
Meeting of:  Planning and Licensing Committee
Date: Wednesday, 9th October, 2019
Time: 6.00 pm.
Venue: Training and Conference Suite, Floor One, 

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Members of the public are able to speak on planning applications for determination 
by the Committee.  To register to speak on an application please complete the 
required form which is available from Governance & Committee Services or on the 
Councils website at www.rochdale.gov.uk/registertospeak

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence.

2. MINUTES 4 - 5

To approve as a correct record, the minutes of the last meeting of the 
Planning and Licensing Committee, held 4th September 2019.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.   

.4. URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

5. ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting.

6. SUBMITTED PLANNING APPLICATIONS 6 - 90

a) Land off Starring Way, Littleborough
Section 73 application for minor material amendment to planning 
application, 15/00996/FUL.

Public Document Pack

mailto:Committee.Services@rochdale.gov.uk
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/registertospeak


b) Dingle Farm, Hollin Lane, Middleton
Section 73 application for amendments to planning permission 
18/00354/FUL.

c) 687 Bury Road, Rochdale
Demolition of existing dwelling, and the erection of 7 No detached 
dwellings with access road and associated parking - Resubmission of 
18/01199/FUL

7. LODGED PLANNING APPEALS 91

Details of lodged planning appeals for information.

SITE VIEWINGS

15:00 - Depart from Rochdale Town Hall 
15:25 - Starring Road, Littleborough
16:10 - 687 Bury Road, Rochdale

There will be a training session for Members of the Planning and 
Licensing Committee in the Training and Conference Suite, at 5.00pm, 
prior to the Committee’s meeting.



Planning and Licensing Committee Members
Councillor Shakil Ahmed Councillor Phil Burke
Councillor Irene Davidson Councillor Susan Emmott
Councillor Rachel Massey Councillor Amna Mir
Councillor Shaun O'Neill Councillor Faisal Rana
Councillor Aasim Rashid Councillor Peter Rush
Councillor John Taylor Councillor Shah Wazir
Councillor Peter Winkler Councillor Sameena Zaheer
Councillor Mohammed Zaman

For more information about this meeting, please contact:
Alison James
Governance and Committee Services, 
Floor 2, Number One Riverside,
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone: 01706 924711
e-mail: Alison.james@rochdale.gov.uk 

mailto:Alison.james@rochdale.gov.uk


PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Wednesday 4th September 2019

PRESENT:  Councillor Shakil Ahmed (in the Chair), Councillors Davidson, 
Massey, Mir, O'Neill, Rashid, Rush, Taylor, Wazir, Winkler, Zaheer and 
Zaman

OFFICERS: Daniela Ripa (Economy Directorate), John Gilligan 
(Neighbourhoods Directorate), John Holmes, Zainab Latif and Alison James 
(Resources Directorate)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 3 members of the public

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Burke, Councillor Susan Emmott 
and Councillor Rana

17 APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Burke, Councillor Susan 
Emmott and Councillor Rana.

18 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor Mir and Councillor Wazir indicated that the applicant for submitted 
planning application 19/00407/AM was known to them in a personal capacity 
but they were participating in the Committee with an open mind.

19 URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
There were no urgent items of business.

20 MINUTES
Resolved:

That the Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Licencing Committee 
held on 8th August 2019 be approved and signed as a correct record.

21 LAND BETWEEN 9A AND 23 MILKSTONE ROAD, ROCHDALE OL11 1ED
The Development Manager introduced submitted planning application 
19/00407/AM, a Section 73 application for minor material amendment to 
planning application 17/00639/VRCON relating to the retention of an existing 
single storey unit previously to be demolished and amendments to car parking 
layout at land between 9A and 23 Milkstone Road, Rochdale OL11 1ED.

The Committee received representations from Mr Arshad who addressed the 
Committee in support of the application. No objectors to the application were 
present.

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



Resolved:

That planning permission be granted, subject to the conditions detailed within 
the submitted report.

22 LODGED APPEALS
The Development Manager submitted a report which detailed planning 
applications that had recently been lodged with the Planning Inspectorate.

Resolved:

That the planning appeals, which have recently been lodged with the Planning
Inspectorate, be noted.

Page 5



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 9 October 2019
Portfolio Councillor Wardle

Cabinet Member for
Planning,  
Development & 
Housing

Report Author Emma Heron
Public/Private Document Public

Application: 19/00454/AM Township: Pennines Ward: Wardle & West  
Littleborough

Applicant: Hoyle Development Ltd Agent: A J Cocker Associates

Site Address: Land off Starring Road, Littleborough

Proposal: 
Section 73 application for minor material amendment to planning 
application 15/00996/FUL relating to alterations to boundary 
treatments, finished floor levels and landscaping

SITE LOCATION

Page 6

Agenda Item 6



DELEGATION

1.1 The application falls to be determined by the Planning and Licensing 
Committee as the Committee resolved to approve the original planning 
permission (ref. 15/00996/FUL) on 17 January 2017.

PROPOSAL SUMMARY

2.1 Minor material amendment application to amend aspects of planning 
permission 15/00996/FUL (for the erection of seven dwellings). The 
amendments relate to finished floor and ridge levels, boundary treatments 
and landscaping.

RECOMMENDATION

3.1 It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves it is 
minded to GRANT planning permission subject to the recommended 
conditions.

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1

4.2

This is a minor material amendment application and as such it is important to 
bear in mind that the development of the land has full planning permission 
and can be implemented in its approved form. The original planning approval 
included lower slab levels than those proposed, however the proposed 
houses were taller with no dividing fence between the site and neighbouring 
gardens on Starring Lane, and detail in respect of the garden levels was to 
be provided by condition. It is within this context that this application should 
be assessed.

The proposed minor material amendments are considered to be acceptable. 
The raised finished floor levels compared with the original approval is 
mitigated to an acceptable degree through the lowering of the ridge heights 
and the provision of close boarded fencing and tree planting between the 
proposed plots 4-7 and the neighbouring residents gardens. The application 
also demonstrates to a satisfactory level that the completed development will 
not increase flood risk elsewhere, and will (subject to conditions) alleviate the 
drainage problems experienced by residents on Starring Lane since 
construction began on site.

Page 7



SITE

The site comprises 0.44 hectares of former greenfield land within the Defined Urban 
Area. Planning permission was granted to develop the site to provide seven 
detached dwellings in 2017 (ref: 15/00996/FUL) and that development is under 
construction.

The site is located on the north eastern side of Rochdale and is accessible from 
Featherstall Road (A58), via Starring Way and Starring Lane. It borders a long-
established residential area to the south and east. To the west of the site lies open 
space which rises upwards away from the site and which is in the Green Belt. To the 
north is a cluster of large detached dwellings.  

Adjoining the southern boundary are the rear boundaries of several detached 
dwellings located along Starring Lane.  Adjoining the eastern boundary lies the 
remaining part of this former open field and beyond it are several large modern 
detached dwellings which are located along Chestnut Way and Elmore Wood. 

PROPOSAL

This minor material amendment application is for alterations to finished floor and 
ridge levels, landscaping and boundary treatments.

By way of background, during early construction of the seven approved dwellings, an 
enforcement complaint lead to an investigation relating to discrepancies in slab 
levels as approved (through the discharge of conditions application 18/01070/DOC), 
compared with the slab levels under construction. 

In addition the land levels and contours of the site were being altered and 
grass/topsoil stripped away as part of the site preparation works. The residents of 
Starring Lane to the south east began to experience drainage issues and ponding 
within their rear gardens during periods of heavy rain after that phase of construction 
had taken place. 

An updated topographical survey was carried out during the enforcement 
investigation in order to obtain an accurate assessment of the on-site situation. 

Slab levels: The proposal seeks approval for alterations to the approved slab levels 
Above Ordnance Datum (AOD) as follows:

Table 1
APPROVED SLAB 
LEVEL (AOD)

PROPOSED SLAB 
LEVEL (AOD)

DIFFERENCE IN 
SLAB LEVEL

Plot 1 171.500 171.750 + 250 mm
Plot 2 170.300 171.170 + 870 mm
Plot 3 169.500 170.150 + 650 mm
Plot 4 170.500 170.880 + 380 mm
Plot 5 170.000 169.985 -  015 mm
Plot 6 169.500 169.550 + 050 mm
Plot 7 168.500 168.170 - 330 mm

Page 8



Ridge levels: As part of a series of measures to compensate for the raised slab 
levels, the proposal includes a design alteration to all plots. Overall ridge levels have 
been lowered, and this has been achieved through a re-design of the houses (the 
lowering of ceiling heights and shallower roof pitches). The effect of these proposed 
changes is to reduce the overall heights of houses.

Combining the proposed raised slab heights and the reduction in floor to ridge house 
heights would bring about a change to the overall heights (AOD) of the dwellings as 
follows:
 
Table 2

APPROVED 
RIDGE LEVEL 
(AOD)

PROPOSED 
RIDGE LEVEL
(AOD)

DIFFERENCE IN 
RIDGE LEVEL

Plot 1 181.069 180.784 - 285 mm
Plot 2 179.885 180.355 + 470 mm
Plot 3 179.085 179.335 + 250 mm
Plot 4 180.069 179.914 - 155 mm
Plot 5 179.569 179.304 - 265 mm
Plot 6 179.069 178.869 - 200 mm
Plot 7 178.069 177.204 - 865 mm
 
Hard-standings: In addition to the above, clarification has been provided that the 
constructed hard-surfaces at the rear of the properties would be lowered to below 
approved ground levels. The hard-surfaced paths around the houses would be laid 
to slope with a slight fall towards the property which is to be provided with a 150 mm 
gravel margin against the perimeter wall. These measures are proposed to assist 
with alleviating surface water run-off. 

Landscaping: The proposed amendment to the landscaping scheme is a scheme of 
native tree planting in addition to the previously approved native hedge planting at 
the bottom of the proposed gardens facing the rear of properties on Starring Way. 
The purpose of which is to provide additional screening and enhance the biodiversity 
that the development provides. The planting trench, containing more freely draining 
material is proposed to assist in alleviating the issues adjoining residents are 
experiencing with surface water run-off from the site, together with other measures 
outlined below.

Boundary treatments:  The proposal includes a fence to be erected to the rear 
gardens of plots 4-7 abutting the existing dry stone wall. The purpose of this is to 
provide additional screening between existing residential gardens and the 
development. The approved scheme is for the planting of a native hedge with no 
boundary fence.

Garden levels: Details of the grading of the rear gardens of plots 4-7 have been 
submitted to demonstrate a levelling out at the lower end adjacent to the existing 
drystone wall forming the boundary between the application site and the rear 
gardens of Starring Lane. The gardens would be surfaced with a minimum of 150 

Page 9



mm topsoil and grass seed. Gardens would also slope downhill, roughly from south 
west to north east.

Drainage: Imported materials that have been placed within the incomplete gardens 
of Plots 5 and 7 will be required to be removed within a timescale required by 
condition of any planning permission prior to topsoil being placed on the gardens. 
Additionally the approved drainage strategy is to be reviewed to determine whether 
any changes are required in light of the amendments to the approved development.

The proposed alterations to the building heights, the tree planting and the boundary 
fence are intended to reduce the concerns of neighbouring occupiers regarding the 
impact of the development on their amenity. The garden levels details are intended 
to demonstrate that privacy of neighbouring occupiers will not be affected by way of 
garden levels and intended to demonstrate that the indicated garden slopes will 
alleviate the existing surface water run-off problems that have occurred to gardens 
on Starring Lane since the start of the construction.

Amendments

The application has been amended by way of the reduction of the slab levels to Plots 
4 and 5 by 250 mm and 215 mm respectively, down from the unauthorised formed 
level on site. These are the highest of the four plots facing the gardens of Starring 
Lane. Plots 6 and 7 have been built within a reasonable tolerance of the approved 
heights, as concluded as part of the enforcement investigations.

The second amendment has been a change to the fence proposed as a boundary 
between the site and the gardens of Starring Lane. Originally the proposal was for a 
1.8 m high fence comprising 1.2 m close board fencing topped with 600 mm trellis. It 
is now proposed to be 2 m high and close boarded.

Other amended plans received during the course of the application process have 
been to provide clarity over aspects of the proposed development, or to rectify minor 
discrepancies.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 2006:
G/D/1
EM/7
EM/8

Defined Urban Area 
Development and flood risk
Protection of surface water and ground water

Rochdale Core Strategy (CS) 2016:
SO1 To deliver a more prosperous economy
SO2 To create successful and healthy communities
SO3 To improve design, image and quality of place
SO4 To promote a greener environment
SO5 To improve accessibility and deliver sustainable transport

SD1 Delivering sustainable development

Page 10



C1 Delivering the right amount of housing in the right places
C2 Focusing on regeneration areas and economic growth corridors/areas
C3 Delivering the right type of houses
C6 Improving health and well being
C7 Delivering education facilities
C8 Improving community sport, leisure and cultural facilities

P1 Improving image
P2 Protecting and Enhancing Character, Landscape and Heritage 
P3 Improving design of new development

G6 Enhancing green infrastructure
G7 Increasing the value of biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution

E2 Increasing jobs and prosperity 

T2 Improving accessibility

DM1 General development requirements
DM2 Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure

Supplementary Planning Documents:
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPD
Biodiversity and Development SPD

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) February 2019

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

RELEVANT HISTORY

15/00996/FUL – Erection of seven detached dwellings. Approved January 2017. 

18/01070/DOC - Submission of details to comply with conditions 3 (materials), 4 
(windows/doors), 5 (boundary treatments), 6 (levels), 7 (biodiversity and 
landscaping), 8 (parking/access areas), 10 (contamination), 11 (drainage), 12 
(Construction Method Statement) – ongoing.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Lead Local Flood Authority 

Existing and Historical Issue with Rainfall Runoff from the hillside catchment

Page 11



As well as rain falling on the Site, the Site receives additional, significant rainfall 
runoff from the hillside to the west of the site, above Starring Road. This runoff 
enters the site from Starring Road and heads towards the low-elevation points of the 
site on the NE corner of the site (but outside the redline development boundary). 

Extract from “Starring Way - Environmental Audit by TJ Booth Associates” (planning 
application):-

The ground conditions noted in the paragraph above mean that the site will have 
poor infiltration; the clay makes infiltration is slow, so ponded areas remain wet for 
periods of time. These flood-susceptible, low lying areas are in the vicinity of no. 20 
Starring Lane and nos.1 & 3 Chestnut Way.

Some rainfall on Starring road passes down the road and enters the highway 
drainage system on Starring Lane. However, this appears to contribute to 
overloading the highway drainage system, which is connected to the public 
combined sewer – evidence of this is the flooding event of Starring Way on 28th July 
2019.

1. Land Drainage

Because there is no nearby stream or watercourse, land drainage of the Site is not 
feasible:-  United Utilities do not accept land drainage discharge to their public 
sewers. This is a long-term issue for existing residents, with no solution available. 

2. Temporary increase in runoff from the building site

During the Contractor’s works, the rainfall runoff from the site is increased for the 
following reasons:-

 some areas have been stripped of topsoil so water runs off immediately rather 
than being slowed by vegetation and grasses;

 the attenuation tank has not been installed to capture the runoff from the roofs 
and hardstanding of the new development.

The Contractor wants to install the attenuation tank until a later stage in the works, 
otherwise it would become filled with sediment and require desilting.

3. Drainage Issue – Does the Development increase flooding of neighbouring 
gardens, in the long term?

With regard to the slope of the gardens of Plot 4 to Plot 7, the Applicant’s drawings 
and cross-section indicate that there is minimal change in elevation from ‘before’ to 

Page 12



‘after’. The new plots’ gardens/ lawn area are shown to have only a gentle slope or 
be flat. 

As long as the Contractor builds ‘in accordance’ with the drawings listed above in 
“Drawings reviewed”, the runoff and flood risk will not be increased as a result of the 
elevations. 

4. Imported unsorted materials

In the vicinity of Plot 5 (and 7), the Drainage Officer noted that imported materials 
had been brought to site. The image below indicates that the material appears to be 
‘building waste’ rather than ‘sorted soils’. This material does not appear to conform to 
the UK’s Government’s “Construction Code of Practice for the Sustainable Use of 
Soils on Construction Site”.

Prior to re-laying topsoil on the garden areas to the east of the new properties nos. 4 
to 7, the Applicant should either remove the ‘building waste’ or demonstrate its 
suitability in accordance with the Sustainable Use of Soils document, to RBC.

5. Increase in the Proposed Attenuation tank volume is required.

a) Reduction of runoff as a result of the Development:- When the housing 
development is completed, significant areas of the Site within the redline 
boundary (roofs and access roads) will be drained and directed to a new 
attenuation tank that will discharge to the public sewer at a restricted flow 
rate. This means that a proportion of the site’s former runoff that would have 
contributed to the lower elevation flooding will be removed. 

b) Minor increase in runoff as a result of the rear patios

Site Plan rev F revised in July 2019 shows that foundations are being installed to 
facilitate future extensions, under ‘permitted development’ rules. As far as the 
Drainage Officer is aware, these new extended roof areas were not included in the 
calculation of the Attenuation tank size

Therefore, to account for the additional footprint of hardstanding, a revision of the 
attenuation volume proposed in the Drainage Design by TJ Booth Associates shall 
be updated, Reason:- since any extension will reduce hardstanding but will not 
require a householder to include any additional drainage measures, therefore the 
volume allowance is required at this stage.

Drainage & Flood Officer Conclusions

With respect to Section 4. (above) I suggest that the Planning Officer / Enforcement 
Officer discusses the issues on temporary increased in rainfall runoff with the 
Applicant and obtains a timetable of improvement to mitigate the ‘Temporary 
increase in runoff’ so that the ‘temporary aspect’ is shortened.

Page 13



With respect to Section 6, I am unable to conclude that the Development overall will 
not increase rainfall runoff towards the neighbouring gardens. Reason:- unknown 
soils appear to have been brought to the site and might be left under the new topsoil 
of the new gardens and might compromise drainage. Page 30 & 31 of the UK 
Government Guidance on Sustainable Soils illustrate the problems than can arise 
with poorly managed soils. I have provided a suggested solution in Section 6. 

With respect to Section 6, I suggest that the Planning Officer considers the matter in 
writing any Decision Notice on application 19/00454/AM.

With respect to Section 7, the Applicant should provide evidence that the proposed 
attenuation tank is correctly sized to accommodate the extended roof areas for the 
permitted development foundations. A calculation including a CAD drg of areas by 
the Drainage designer would clarify this matter. 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Additional comments from Lead local Flood Authority:

This consultation supplements the Drainage Consultation issued 16. Sept 2019  

6. Suitability of soils for garden plot areas for Plots 4 &5 

On 18.9.19, I made another site visit to re-check the materials that had been overlain 
on the subsoil in the future garden plot areas of plots 4 & 5.

The Officer agrees with the Contractor that only stone-rubble had been imported, 
which is permitted. ‘Building waste’ had not been imported; the presence of items of 
isolated waste items in the material in the future garden plots were items that had 
been dropped on the site by the insulation installers. The Officer observed that the 
soil was not imported, but had been dug from the foundations elsewhere on the site. 

The Drainage Officer and the Contractor agreed that the overlain sub-soil has clay 
content with poor permeability. The Developer’s Site Manager agreed that, prior to 
doing the finishing work of the garden plots, he would remove the overlaid materials 
shown in Photo A (pg 2) and any miscellaneous plastic / insulation waste. He agreed 
to bring the future garden levels up to the approved finish levels with top soil, which 
is already on site. The site manager has a copy of the UK’s Government’s 
“Construction Code of Practice for the Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Site” 
for his reference – during these works.

The agreed resolution means that the infiltration capacity of the final grassed and 
garden surfaces will not be reduced by the development. Once vegetation has been 
re-established, rainfall runoff to the adjacent residents gardens will not be increased.

7. Pre-development existing drainage issues of neighbouring properties 

Page 14



The topographical survey of the Site, prior to the development, and the geotechnical 
report (submitted in the Planning Application) provide evidence that flooding of 
adjacent properties’ gardens would have occurred in the past, before the 
development commenced.  

The existing underlying subsoil of the site (and adjacent gardens) has poor 
permeability:- rainwater does not infiltrate easily into the ground, leaving large ponds 
which can run onto other adjacent low lying gardens. As noted on the previous 
drainage consultations, the redevelopment of this site cannot resolve all of the pre-
existing drainage issues of neighbouring properties, nor resolve the issue that United 
Utilities do not allow land drainage connections. 

Highways and Engineering – No objection. The proposals see the wall re-instated 
with like for like materials and the highways adjacent improved. The proposals will 
see the site accessible for refuse vehicles.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit – No objection to the minor material 
amendment. This appears to result in additional habitat creation. The details of the 
additional tree planting can be conditioned.

TOWNSHIP PLANNING PANEL

The application was presented to the Pennines Township Planning Panel on 17th 
July 2019; Members commented that “this application should be refused when 
brought to committee. This developer has disregarded the previous planning 
agreement – this is not acceptable. His actions have led to loss of privacy and work 
has not been carried out according to conditions laid down”.

MEMBER REPRESENTATIONS

No representations have been received from individual Members.

PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS

Objection Reps 37 Support Reps 0 Neutral Reps 0

37 representations have been received from eleven households. The points raised in 
the representations are summarised below, together with Officer comments.

 Gardens will slope towards houses on Starring Lane, and ground levels are 
much higher resulting in overbearing impact, flooding and privacy issues;

Officer’s Response: This is addressed in the Neighbour Amenity and Flood Risk and 
Drainage sections of the report.

 The drainage problems for residents of Starring Lane have only occurred 
since the developer imported several tons of hardcore onto the site and 
changed the contours of the land. Evidence of gardens flooding on Starring 

Page 15



Lane has been submitted. Hedges and trees would take years to mature 
enough to have any impact on the amount of water flooding garden.

Officer’s Response: Removal of topsoil to the base clay together with alterations to 
levels on the site has caused surface water run-off during periods of heavy rain and 
this current condition is temporary whilst construction takes place. The proposals are 
intended to rectify this. 

 Why cannot the surface water from the gardens behind Starring Lane not be 
directed to the hydro-brake and be regulated with other waste water run-off? 
The hydro-brake has not yet been installed. Core Strategy policy G8 states 
that the Council will ensure that new development does not lead to any 
increased form of flooding locally or further downstream.

Officer’s Response: The developer has advised that the attenuation tank and hydro-
brake is scheduled for installation in September / October 2019. These drainage 
control features are required, but they are only needed immediately prior to 
connection of the new hardstanding areas (tarmac access roads & footpaths and 
house roofs) to the United Utilities sewer.  Surface water from the gardens (ie land 
drainage) cannot be connected to the combined sewer because the right to connect 
to the public sewer network is restricted to 'premises' i.e. buildings. 

 Concern that there will be no land drain put into the development as gardens 
on Elmore Wood become flooded. Why is this?

Officer’s Response: The flooding issues relating to Elmore Wood and Chestnut Way 
are historic, dating back to when these properties were built. See above comment re. 
Land Drainage.

 Existing flooding issues affecting Chestnut Way and Elmore Wood caused by 
installation of a sewer connection in 2008 should have been mitigated as part 
of the application for the seven houses.

Officer’s Response: It is not the developer’s responsibility to mitigate for existing 
problems. The NPPF and Core Strategy Policy G8 can only require that new 
development does not lead to any form of increased flooding locally or further 
downstream, and contributes (where possible) to alleviating flood risk.

 As the site is not suitable for drainage soak away solutions due to existing 
heavy clay ground conditions, then the level/slope of the garden should be 
reduced and flattened out to prevent any flooding of gardens on Starring 
Lane.

Officer’s Response: The proposal demonstrates that the gardens level out towards 
the rear and are level with the bottom of the dry stone wall that divides the site from 
Starring Lane.

 Disagree that the proposed ridge level of Plot 4 is within 95 mm of the 
approved level. The increase in slab height has not been taken into account 
and the property will be 0.725 mm higher than approved and Plot 2 will be 

Page 16



1.343 m higher than approved. On some properties ridge heights have been 
increased as well as an increase in slab heights.

Officer’s Response: The floor to ridge heights of all seven dwellings is proposed to 
be lower than those approved (as shown in the “Proposal” section of this report). 
However as the slab height is higher than approved, that is where the calculations 
come into effect.

 Walls beyond the approved footprint are not shown on the plans and we think 
that this is misleading and should be clearly shown.

Officer’s Response: Clarification has been provided that the walls will be taken down 
to below approved ground level. 

 The increased heights of houses should be rectified as soon as possible. The 
development is at full height and already dominates the skyline and is out of 
character with existing housing.

Officer’s Response: See Design and Visual Impact section of this report.

 The local planning authority sought a reduction in the heights of the original 
houses by 300mm to reduce the impact from the public right of way. Any 
increase at all in ridge height would contravene this.

Officer’s Response: See Design and Visual Impact section of this report.

 Reasons for raising the slab levels (water pipe positions, level access and 
rectifying difficult access in inclement weather) are not valid and the approved 
plans should be followed.

Officer’s Response: The reasons behind the raising of slab levels are not material 
planning considerations. The relevant considerations are outlined in the remainder of 
this report.

 Object to the close-boarded fence adjacent to the dry stone wall of Starring 
Lane. Hedging could be removed by future occupiers of the new houses thus 
negating biodiversity mitigation of biodiversity loss in the field by way of 
wildlife corridor. The hedge and tree planting should be between the wall and 
fence.

Officer’s Response: Under the approved application the hedging would have been 
within the gardens of the new houses anyway, so the proposed amendment is not 
different in that respect. Planting the hedge between the drystone wall and the fence 
would prohibit access to maintain the landscaping, which is required by condition.

 A more solid fence with no trellis on the top panel would be preferred to 
protect residential amenity.

Officer’s Response: The application has been amended to reflect this.

Page 17



 The wall adjacent to the highway was removed and used for hardcore. It was 
historic and formed part of the biodiversity of the area. It is now proposed to 
build a realigned wall with footpath, destroying grass verges leading to harm 
to rural character, biodiversity and is not what was originally approved.

Officer’s Response: The original planning permission included provision to build a 
realigned wall and footpath to Highway Authority specifications.

 Discrepancies on plans, and querying the stated ridge heights;

Officer’s Response: The discrepancies have been rectified and neighbours re-
consulted on the basis of the amended plans. The stated ridge heights are correct. 
They are based on a combination of the lowering of room heights, and shallower roof 
pitch to create a lowered ridge height.

 Querying the accuracy of site section drawing (plot 7) and concerns over 
heights in relation to the garden slope and the level of the garden wall.

Officer’s Response: The site section drawing is accurate as it refers to a specific 
cross-section which is highlighted on the plan. Issues relating to the impact of the 
height of the building are addressed in the Neighbour Amenity section of the report.

 The images submitted with the application are misleading. They are not to 
scale and give the impression that the development is a long way from our 
properties.

Officer’s Response: The images are supporting information only whilst the plans 
form the basis of the planning application. The images will not be included within the 
approved plans list should planning permission be granted.

ANALYSIS

Principle of a minor material amendment application

1. The application is made under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. This is the mechanism by which to vary or remove conditions 
associated with a planning permission. Where there is a relevant condition on 
the planning permission to be varied (for example, the approved plans list 
condition) Section 73 can be used to apply for minor material amendments to 
the approved plans. That is the case here. Whilst approval of this application 
would, in effect, result in the issuing of a new permission, consideration should 
only be given to those elements of the scheme that differ from the previous 
approval, together with any significant change in policy and other material 
factors that have occurred in the interim. 

2. The National Planning Practice Guidance states that “there is no statutory 
definition of a ‘minor material amendment’ but it is likely to include any 
amendment where its scale and/or nature results in a development which is not 
substantially different from the one which has been approved”. In this respect 

Page 18



the development proposal is substantially the same as the approved scheme in 
relation to amount, design, scale, layout, access and parking.

3. There have been no changes to the status of the development plan since the 
grant of full planning permission 15/00996/FUL (approved January 2017). The 
committee report had taken account of the relevant policies of the Rochdale 
Core Strategy, which had been adopted in October 2016. There have been 
revisions to the National Planning Policy Framework (2018 and 2019), but 
those changes have no material impact on the assessment of the proposal. 
Accordingly this application will be assessed on the merits of the proposal as 
submitted and any changes to the application site and surrounding area since 
the grant of planning permission 15/00996/FUL.

4. The proposed amendments are detailed in the “Proposals” section above, and 
the key considerations to be assessed relate to design and visual impact, 
neighbour amenity and drainage. 

5. Given the above definition of a minor amendment application, it is important to 
bear in mind that the development has full planning permission and can be fully 
implemented in its approved form. The original planning approval includes 
lower slab levels than those now proposed, however there is also an approval 
for taller houses, no dividing fence between the site and neighbouring gardens 
on Starring Lane, and detail in respect of the garden levels was previously 
reserved by condition. It is within this context that this Section 73 application 
should be assessed.

Design and Visual Impact

6. Policies DM1 and P3 of the adopted Core Strategy require all development 
proposals to demonstrate that they are of high quality design and take the 
opportunity to enhance the quality of the area. Principles of good design in 
housing schemes are also outlined within the Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD): Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide.

7. In recommending approval for planning application 15/00996/FUL the officer 
report acknowledged the contribution that the (formerly) greenfield site made as 
a transition between the Defined Urban Area and the Green Belt, and 
negotiated design and layout improvements including “each dwelling being 
300mm lower with a stronger edge to Starring Road”. The minor material 
amendment seeks approval for a change in levels and building heights, and an 
assessment is required as to whether this has an acceptable visual impact, 
within the wider landscape context that the officer previously acknowledged.

8. The transition between urban edge and countryside in this location is best 
appreciated from slightly elevated public vantage points to the east and south 
east, and the change in character is from an urban estate road (Starring Lane) 
to a country lane (Starring Road). The wider vantage points look down towards 
the site, and from these slightly elevated views the levels as proposed will be 
barely discernible from those approved. Regarding the character of Starring 
Road as a country lane, it must be noted that the development already has 
planning approval for a re-aligned (setback) boundary wall plus highway and 
footpath alterations “to Highway Authority specifications”. From this vantage 

Page 19



point therefore, approval is already in place for an upgraded highway that will 
alter the appearance of this part of Starring Road to one with more urban 
characteristics. The slight alteration to levels will not have an appreciable 
impact from this vantage point. The changes in ridge heights as set out in the 
‘Proposals’ section, comprising a mix of lower and higher than those approved, 
will not harmfully impact upon views of the housing development from outside 
of the site.

9. Other elements of the scheme including additional tree planting and fencing 
would not impact adversely on the wider landscape. 

10. The proposed amendments to the planning permission are considered to be 
acceptable in design and visual impact terms, and would accord with policies 
DM1 and P3 of the Core Strategy.

Neighbour Amenity

11. Section 4 of the adopted Guidelines and Standards for Residential Amenity 
SPD advises that “although it is expected that most new development will have 
some impact on neighbours, it is important to ensure that the impact is not so 
significant that it results in unacceptable harm. All new developments should 
avoid causing a significant loss of privacy and/or light for occupiers of new 
neighbouring dwellings and existing dwellings.”

12.  The assessment of the impact of the proposed minor material amendment on 
the amenities of the occupiers of nearby houses must be made in the context of 
a comparison with the approved development (15/00996/FUL) and having 
regard to planning policy requirements.

13. Section 4 of the “Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” SPD 
(adopted 2016) states that the following minimum space standards will be 
applied to all new residential developments and developments which affect 
existing residential properties:

i. 21m between directly facing principal windows of habitable rooms, at an 
upper floor level AND 10.5m between a principal window at an upper floor 
level and a directly facing boundary of the curtilage;

ii. 14m between a principal window and any directly facing two storey 
elevation which does not contain a principal window to a habitable room;

iii. 10m between a principal window and any directly facing single storey 
elevation which does not contain a principal window to a habitable room.

14. The Guidelines also state that where buildings of three or more storeys are 
proposed, or there is a marked difference in levels, it may be necessary for the 
minimum distances set out in (ii) and (iii) above to be increased.

15. Taking account of the Council’s adopted space standards, in particular set out 
at criterion (i) above, it is an important consideration that the distances between 
the plots and the existing nearest residential properties exceed the adopted 
space standard, in some cases by a considerable margin,  as follows: 

Plot 1 

Page 20



 46m between facing windows; and
 23m principal windows to directly facing boundary

Plot 2
 41m between facing windows; and
 18m principal windows to directly facing boundary

Plot 3 
 36m between facing windows; and
 13m principal windows to directly facing boundary

Plot 4
 30m+ between facing windows (measured at closest point); and
 15.5m principal windows to directly facing boundary

Plot 5 
 28.5m+ between facing windows (measured at closest point); and
 14.5m principal windows to directly facing boundary

Plot 6
 27.5m+ between facing windows (measured at closest point); and
 14.5m principal windows to directly facing boundary

Plot 7
 27m+ between facing windows (measured at closest point); and
 13.5m principal windows to directly facing boundary

16. The above measurements demonstrate that in all cases there is a significant 
distance between principal windows of each plot, and the windows in existing 
residential properties – distances which exceed the requirements of the SPD.  
In the case of Plots 1 to 3 there is also a considerable distance between the 
plot and shared garden boundary with Middle Starring. The boundary with 
Middle Starring also benefits from significant and dense tree planting. To this 
(North West) side of the development therefore, it can be clearly demonstrated 
that the proposed amendments to the approved development will have no 
material impact on neighbour amenity.

17. The measurements set out above demonstrate that the distance between the 
plots and the garden boundaries to Starring Lane also exceed the adopted 
space standard, by 5 metres (plot 4), 4.5 metres (plot 5 and 6) and 3 metres 
(plot 7). There is also a difference in levels from the bottom of the proposed 
gardens to the slab heights of the plots, and the adopted SPD requires this to 
be taken into account (see paragraph 13 above). 

Page 21



18. It is noted that the houses are higher, however the gardens would slope down 
to become level with the neighbouring gardens, and the approved houses are 
further away from the boundaries and houses of Starring Lane than the SPD 
minimum standards. The installation of a two metre high fence at the boundary 
is therefore considered to be sufficient to mitigate any concerns around privacy 
relating to overlooking of gardens and ground floor rooms. This would over 
time, be supplemented by the proposed tree planting once it becomes 
established. The retention and maintenance of the fence would be required by 
condition, together with the standard five year maintenance programme for 
landscaping. 

19. Whilst assessing the impact of the development on neighbour amenity, it is 
important to take into account the existing planning permission and relationship 
between gardens. At present there is clear intervisibility between the Starring 
Lane gardens and the application site, and this is particularly acute within the 
garden of 26 Starring Lane where there is no landscaping at all adjacent to the 
rear boundary. The existing planning permission does not incorporate any 
requirement for fencing, only hedge planting, and so the visibility between 
gardens would remain as existing, until the hedge were to reach maturity. The 
current proposal incorporates a fence and trees along this boundary, which 
would provide an immediate privacy screen. 

20. The proposal is therefore considered to have an acceptable impact on 
neighbouring amenity taking into account the exceedance of the adopted space 
standards set out in the SPD, the proposal to install a fence and additional tree 
planting and also the minimal difference between approved and as-built slab 
levels set out in Table 1 for Plots 4-7 and including the reduction in ridge 
heights. This is in accordance with policy DM1 of the core Strategy, Guidelines 
and Standards for Residential Development SPD, and paragraph 127 of the 
NPPF which requires that developments create a high standard of amenity for 
existing and future users.

Drainage and flood risk

21. Paragraph 155 of the NPPF 2019 states that inappropriate development in 
areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from 
areas at highest risk, and where development is necessary, making it safe 
without increasing flood risk elsewhere. Paragraph 163 of the NPPF 2019 
states that when determining planning applications, local planning authorities 
should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. 

22. Core Strategy policy G8 seeks to ensure that new development does not lead 
to any form of increased flooding locally or further downstream, and contributes 
(where possible) to alleviating flood risk.

Page 22



23. Whilst bearing in mind that this application is for a minor material amendment to 
an already approved scheme and therefore only the amendments and any 
other material changes in circumstance should be taken into account, it is 
considered important to set out the background to drainage and flood risk 
issues relating to the site and surrounding area, and the existing planning 
permission. 

24. The site is in Flood Zone 1, which means that it is assessed as having a low (1 
in 1,000) annual probability of flooding. The site is also within a much wider 
Critical Drainage Area (CDA) encompassing much of Littleborough. CDAs are 
identified in the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment as areas where surface water 
risk was established as most widespread and significant, and where particular 
care was needed in assessing the impact of development on surface water 
flood risk. As well as rain falling on the site, it receives additional significant 
rainfall runoff from the hillside to the west. This runoff enters the site from 
Starring Road and heads towards the low-elevation points on north east corner 
(outside of the red edge development boundary). Additionally, the site suffers 
from poor infiltration due to the clay subsoils, so ponded areas remain wet for 
periods of time. Land drainage of the site is not feasible as there is no nearby 
stream or watercourse to drain to (United Utilities will not accept land drainage 
to their public sewers).

25. Within the above context, the original planning application was supported by a 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and a drainage strategy, the pertinent points 
being:

 Percolation tests revealed that the site is unsuitable for soakaways (clay)
 There is no option to discharge surface water to watercourses or 

waterbodies within the site
 Discharge to a public sewer is the only option and United Utilities have 

given consent on the basis that the surface water discharge would be 
restricted to 6.5l/s through the use of an attenuation tank and hydrobrake 
and paths and driveways would be permeable material.

 Foul sewage would be collected on a separate system prior to discharge 
to the public sewer.

26. The detailed drainage scheme based on the above principles was approved by 
the Drainage and Flooding Engineer as part of discharge of condition 
application 18/01070/DOC.

27. Separately, it is known that flooding occurs within the gardens of Elmore Wood 
and Chestnut Way to the north east of the application site. It is understood that 
this has been occurring for many years, prior to any work being undertaken on 
the approved development. The Drainage and Flooding Engineer has advised 
that there is no reason to conclude that the proposed development would 
exacerbate any flooding which may occur in this location. The reason for this is 
in part due to the approved drainage scheme. The scheme requires the 
installation of an attenuation tank and hydrobrake prior to occupation of any of 
the dwellings, it accounts for surface water from all non-permeable surfaces 

Page 23



within the development site and restricts the discharge flow rate to the main 
sewer. What the approved drainage scheme will not do however, is to provide a 
solution to, or improvement upon, the pre-existing flooding issues. This is 
stipulated in the policies set out at paragraphs 21-23 above. Nor will land 
drainage be provided (as set out above). Objections to the application have 
been received on the basis of these pre-existing flooding issues, however 
providing that the development will not worsen this situation, there are no 
material planning reasons to refuse planning permission on the basis of pre-
existing flooding to these properties.

28. Since construction of the development began there have been occurrences of 
surface water run-off flowing into and ponding in the gardens of properties on 
Starring Lane, and in the recent significant rain event (July 2019), water flowed 
through the gardens and round the side of properties, and entered one 
resident’s garage. This appears to be as a direct result of construction works 
taking place on the site. It is noted that this is a temporary increase in rainfall 
runoff, caused by changes in levels on the development site and the stripping 
away of topsoils, together with the current lack of attenuation tank. These are 
necessary but temporary elements of a construction project and it is the 
application proposals that should be assessed for the purposes of this non 
material amendment application. 

29. The application details the proposed slope of gardens of Plots 4 – 7, with the 
cross-section drawing indicating minimal change in elevation between pre-
existing levels and proposed. The gardens would have a gentle slope or would 
be flat and at the bottom of the garden would be level with the bottom of the 
existing drystone wall.  The Drainage and Flooding Engineer has advised that 
as long as the development is built in accordance with these plans the runoff 
and flood risk will not be increased. 

30. The applicant is also required to remove imported soil, rubble and gravel which 
have clay content and poor permeability from the gardens of Plots 4-7. This 
would be replaced with topsoil to the required levels shown on the proposed 
levels drawings. The Drainage and Flooding Engineer has advised that this is 
an acceptable solution. He notes that the existing underlying subsoil has pre-
existing poor permeability in any case, however the proposed measure would 
be sufficient to ensure that the infiltration capacity of the final grassed and 
garden surfaces will not be reduced by the development, and rainfall runoff to 
the adjacent residents’ gardens will not be increased, once vegetation has been 
re-established.

31. In addition to the above a condition would be imposed requiring a review of the 
drainage design, in order to establish if the attenuation tank would need re-
sizing to accommodate potential future extensions to the plots. 

Page 24



32. To conclude, whilst it is appreciated that the construction phase is causing 
surface water run-off issues for adjoining residents, it should be noted that this 
is temporary. The proposed measures, and recommended conditions are 
considered sufficient to mitigate against flood risk concerns. It would be 
unreasonable to require additional flood risk and drainage strategies from the 
development in order to overcome pre-existing issues. The proposal is 
considered to accord with Core Strategy policy G8 and the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Conclusion

33. The development has planning permission, which can be implemented in its 
approved form. The application is a minor material amendment relating only to 
certain aspects of the development proposal (as described in detail above). 
Only those elements fall to be assessed here. It should also be noted that the 
existing flooding issues affecting residents on Starring Lane are as a result of 
the temporary change to the land during the construction phase.

34. Officers have negotiated with the applicant both during the enforcement 
investigation and the course of this application and the assessment outlines 
that the amendments are now acceptable having regard to design and visual 
impact, neighbour amenity and drainage and flood risk mitigation subject to the 
conditions set out below and taking account of consultee advice, in particular 
from the Flooding and Drainage Engineer. 

35. The approved scheme (application 15/00996/FUL), does not include the same 
level of detail for garden levels, nor does it include the provision of a close 
boarded fence between the site and neighbouring properties. In this respect the 
proposed amended scheme is an improvement upon the extant planning 
permission.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee GRANT planning 
permission subject to the following conditions:

1 The development must be begun not later than three years from 18 January 
2017.

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

 2 This permission relates to the following plans:

- Site Layout (drg.no. H407/001 Rev G)
- Proposed Site Sections – 1 (drg.no. H407/010 Rev D)
- Height Revisions Plots 4 - 5 (drg.no. H407/011 Rev D)

Page 25



- Height Revisions Plots 1 – 3 (drg.no. H407/012 Rev E)
- Proposed Site Sections – 2 (drg.no. H407/013 Rev E)
- Height Revisions Plots 6 – 7 (drg.no. H407/014 Rev A)

and the development shall be carried out in accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 3 The materials to be used externally on the buildings shall be as specified on 
the document: “Proposed Materials to be used on development of 7 detached 
dwellings at Starring Road, Littleborough, planning ref; 15/00996/FUL – 16-
11-18” as approved under application reference 18/01070/DOC. Only the 
materials so approved shall be used, in accordance with any terms of such 
approval. 

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity, in accordance with Core Strategy policy P3, and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

 4 All windows and doors shall be as specified on the document: “Proposed 
Materials to be used on development of 7 detached dwellings at Starring 
Road, Littleborough, planning ref; 15/00996/FUL – 16-11-18” as approved 
under application reference 18/01070/DOC. The windows and doors shall be 
installed in accordance with the duly approved details before the dwellings 
hereby approved are first occupied and shall be retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure use of appropriate materials which are 
sympathetic to the character of the site and its surroundings in the interests of 
visual amenity in accordance with Core Strategy policy P3, and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

 5 All boundary treatments shall be as specified on the Site Layout (dwg.no. 
H407/001/G). The approved walls/fences shall be erected before each 
dwelling hereby approved is first occupied and shall thereafter be retained.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance and in the interests of 
the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties in 
accordance with Core Strategy policy P3 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

 6 The bat and bird boxes shall be installed in accordance with the details on the 
Site Layout (dwg.no. H407/001G), and the Biodiversity Enhancement 
Landscape Management Plan (Verity Webster – revised Nov 2018) (BELMP), 
received as part of application 18/01070/DOC, prior to first occupation of each 
of the dwellings on which the boxes will be sited. The boxes shall be 
maintained in complete accordance with the BELMP thereafter.

Page 26



Reason: In order to achieve appropriate biodiversity enhancements as part of 
the development in accordance with the requirements of Core Strategy 
polices G6 and G7 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

7 The landscaping including hedgerows and tree planting, as shown on the Site 
Layout Plan (dwg.no. H407/001/G, Biodiversity Enhancement Landscape 
Management Plan (Verity Webster – revised Nov 2018) (BELMP), and revised 
planting plan, both received as part of application 18/01070/DOC, shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details including timing/phasing 
arrangements approved, or within the first planting season following final 
occupation of the development hereby permitted, whichever is the sooner. 
Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this condition 
which are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become severely damaged or 
become seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced within 
the next planting season by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to 
those originally required to be planted. 

Reason: In order to achieve appropriate biodiversity and landscape 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the 
requirements of Core Strategy policies G6 and G7 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

8 The development shall not be occupied until full details of the long-term 
management responsibilities pertaining to the landscaping scheme, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
management responsibilities shall include a requirement to adhere to the 
requirements approved as part of condition 7 of this planning permission. 

Reason: In order to achieve appropriate biodiversity and landscape 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the 
requirements of Core Strategy policies G6 and G7 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

 9 The design, construction and drainage of the approved internal road all 
private parking areas shall be carried out in accordance with the details on 
“Residential Development Road Construction Details (drg.no.dwg-tjba-hoyle-
starring rd, lboro-140818.dwg rev P0)” as approved under application 
reference 18/01070/DOC. The duly approved access road shall be 
implemented before any of the dwellings hereby approved are first occupied 
and the parking areas shall be provided before each associated dwelling is 
first occupied, and retained thereafter.

Reason: To achieve appropriate provision for vehicle access, circulation and 
manoeuvring, to ensure there is adequate provision for vehicles to be parked 
clear of the highway and to ensure the suitable disposal of surface water in 
accordance with Core Strategy Policies T2 and P3, saved UDP policy EM/7 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 27



10 Within one month of the date of this planning permission, a scheme for the 
disposal of foul and surface waters shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include:

 Details of the rate of surface water discharge from the site (including 
any necessary flow attenuation measures and the use of SUDS where 
appropriate), which shall not exceed 6.5 litres per second. 

 Details of how the scheme will be maintained and managed after 
completion. 

The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to first occupation of any of the dwellings, and shall be maintained and 
managed after completion, in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure the appropriate disposal of surface and foul water and to 
manage the risks of flooding and pollution in accordance with Core Strategy 
policy G8, saved UDP policies EM/7 and EM/8 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

11 Within one month of the date of this planning permission, the following 
information shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority:

 Photographic evidence of the complete removal of stone rubble and 
plastic waste items from all plots (as referenced in the Drainage 
Consultation response dated 20.9.19);

 Details of the grade and minimum depth of topsoil to be used on each 
of the gardens; and

 A timetable by which each of the plots will be finished with the specified 
topsoil, to the levels specified on the approved plans in condition 2.

The soils of the garden plots shall be prepared in accordance with Section 
6.1, pages 34 & 35 of ‘Soil Placement’ of UK’s Government’s ‘Construction 
Code of Practice for the Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Site’ 
(LOOSE-TIPPING METHOD AND RELIEF OF COMPACTION).

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
and timetables. 

Reason: to ensure that the infiltration capacity of the final garden surfaces will 
not be reduced, in the interests of flood risk management in accordance with 
Core Strategy policy G8 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

12 The approved remediation scheme (application reference 18/01070/DOC) 
must be fully implemented, and imported material tested at a ratio of 1:50/m 
cubed for soil to be used for garden purposes and 1/250m cubed for subsoil. 

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme and prior to the occupation of each plot, a verification report that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out for that plot 
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 28



Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Core Strategy Policy G9 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

13 No external lighting shall be installed within the development unless a scheme 
for such lighting has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The submitted scheme shall include details of the 
locations and design of any lighting and LUX levels from the lights. The 
approved scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details and retained as such thereafter. 

Reason: In the interest of visual amenities and to prevent nuisance arising in 
accordance with the requirements of Core Strategy Policies G9 and P3 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

14 The construction of the development shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the revised Construction Method Statement dated 15 
October 2018, as approved under application reference 18/01070/DOC. 

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit 
noise, nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings 
during the construction of the development in accordance with the 
requirements of Core Strategy Policy G9, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Page 29



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 9 October 2019
Portfolio Councillor Carol 

Wardle, Development 
& Housing

Report Author David Allen
Public/Private Document Public

Application: 19/00826/AM Township: Middleton Ward: West Middleton

Applicant: Auxilia Homes Ltd Agent: Smith & Love Planning Consultants

Site Address: Dingle Farm, Hollin Lane, Middleton, M24 6XW

Proposal: Section 73 application for amendments to planning permission 
18/00354/FUL comprising layout changes; amendments to bungalows and 
community hub; removal of farm building and energy centre; addition of swale 
SUDs feature; and submission of additional detail pertaining to conditions

SITE LOCATION

Page 30



DELEGATION

1.1 The application is referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee as 
the development represents a departure from the Development Plan.

1.2 In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) 
(England) Direction 2009, as the application is ‘Green Belt development’ 
(that being development which consists of inappropriate development in 
Green Belt constituting the provision of buildings where the floor space to 
be created is 1,000 square metres or more) the application must be 
referred to the Secretary of State if the Committee is minded to grant 
planning permission.

PROPOSAL SUMMARY

2.1 Full planning permission was granted by Planning and Licensing 
Committee in July 2018 for the demolition of the existing buildings at 
Dingle Farm and the redevelopment of the site with a comprehensive 
scheme for provision of supported living accommodation (comprising 15 
bungalow units) for adults with autism.

2.2 This application seeks amendments to the consented scheme comprising 
alterations to the site layout, bungalow and community hub designs, 
removal of the farm building and energy centre, alterations to the layout 
and extent of car parking and the addition of a swale Sustainable Urban 
Drainage feature at the base of the site.

2.3 The application is also accompanied by additional detail seeking to satisfy 
the requirements of a number of conditions attached to the original 
planning permission, in order to expedite commencement of development 
in the event this permission is granted.

RECOMMENDATION

3.1

3.2

That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the schedule of 
recommended conditions and subject to referral to the Secretary of State. 

If the Secretary of State is not minded to ‘call in’ the application for 
determination, the Head of Planning Services be delegated to release the 
decision notice subject to the schedule of recommended conditions.

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1 The principle of development was established in the previous grant of 
planning permission (ref. 18/00354/FUL); the proposed amendments 
would neither significantly alter the character or impacts of the 
development or result in any greater harm to the Green Belt than the 
previously consented development, noting in particular that the amended 
scheme includes a reduction in the volume of buildings proposed.

Page 31



4.2

4.3

4.4

The amended development proposal would continue to bring forward 
benefits of substantial scale that weigh heavily in favour of the scheme. 
The scheme is a direct local response to a national and local agenda 
which seeks to focus on the provision of joined up care and support 
allowing people with autism and severe learning difficulties to live in 
settled, secure and appropriate accommodation and be able to live full, 
happy and meaningful lives. The innovative, unique and sector-leading 
scheme will meet these needs for its residents for life.

Planning conditions have been amended and updated where possible to 
reflect the additional information submitted in order to satisfy the 
requirements of a number of conditions attached to the original planning 
permission, in order to expedite commencement of development in the 
event this permission is granted.

The proposal, as with the consented scheme, would result in harm to the 
Green Belt by reason of being inappropriate development and its impact 
on openness. The scheme would also have a limited impact on landscape 
character and appearance. However, as previously, it is considered 
overall that the benefits in this case clearly outweigh the harm. As such, 
when looking at the development as a whole, and in accordance with 
paragraph 144 of the Framework, very special circumstances are 
considered to exist because the harm to the Green Belt and all other 
harms that have been identified are clearly outweighed by other 
considerations. Therefore, although the proposal does not accord with the 
development plan when read as a whole, other material considerations 
indicate that planning permission should be granted.

Page 32



SITE

The application relates to Dingle Farm and a portion of the surrounding open 
land, which lies to the western side of Hollin Lane in Middleton. Access to the 
existing site is from Hollin Lane itself, taking the form of a single track tarmac 
lane. The boundary of the site extends to approximately 2.7ha in area, and is 
located in the Green Belt and Protected Open Land between Middleton and 
Heywood. The site is roughly triangular in shape, running from Hollin Lane at the 
east of the site to the existing farmhouse in the west of the site, which is 
bounded by a public right of way (MidRupp114). 

Existing buildings on the site are clustered in this south west corner and 
comprise the farmhouse and attached barn, an indoor manège/sand school and 
a large stables building. Other developed areas of the site include large areas of 
hardstanding, forming a link between the three main buildings and providing 
large areas of parking. There is an existing open-air manège to the east of the 
farmhouse associated with the site; however, this area of land is excluded from 
the application site boundary. The eastern portion of the site is formed of grazed 
pasture land, divided by post and rail fencing, hedgerows and trees in some 
places.

The site lies adjacent to a number of parcels of land off Hollin Lane and Langley 
Lane which are being developed for residential purposes following the grant of 
planning permissions in 2016.

PROPOSAL

Planning permission was granted in July 2018 for the demolition of the existing 
buildings at Dingle Farm and the redevelopment of the site with a 
comprehensive scheme for provision of supported living accommodation 
(comprising 15 bungalow units) for adults with autism. The purpose of the 
development is to house people with autism from the Borough, some with 
complex needs, as part of the Transforming Care Agenda (which arose as a 
response to the Winterbourne Review).

This Section 73 (minor material amendment) application seeks amendments to 
the consented scheme, as follows:

 Alterations to the layout and arrangement of car parking and circulation 
areas at the front of the site (adjacent to Hollin Lane);

 Reduction in scale and relocation of the community hub;
 Minor amendments to the design and footprint of the bungalows;
 Removal of the stables/farm building and ‘energy centre’;
 Removal of 20 car parking spaces from the western end of the site;
 Relocation of the pumping station/treatment plant;
 Creation of a detention basin Sustainable Urban Drainage (SuDS) 

feature.

The application is also accompanied by additional detail seeking to satisfy the 
requirements of a number of conditions attached to the original planning 

Page 33



permission, in order to expedite commencement of development in the event 
this permission is granted.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy (RCS): 

SP2 The Spatial Strategy for the borough
SP3 The Spatial Strategy for the townships
SD1 Delivering sustainable development 
DM1 General development requirements 
DM2  Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure 

SO2 Creating successful and healthy communities
C1 Delivering the right amount of housing in the right places
C3 Delivering the right type of housing
C6 Improving health and well being

SO3 Improving design, image and quality of place 
P1  Improving image 
P2  Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage 
P3  Improving design of new development 

SO4 Promoting a greener environment 
G2 Energy and new development
G4 Protecting Green Belt
G5 Managing protected open land
G6 Enhancing green infrastructure
G7  Increasing the value of biodiversity and geodiversity 
G8  Managing water resources and flood risk 
G9  Reducing the impact of pollution
G10 Managing mineral resources 

SO5 Improving accessibility and delivering sustainable transport 
T2 Improving accessibility

Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

G/D/2 Green Belt
D/10 Protected Open Land
RE/6 Recreational Rights of Way
G/M/1 Protection and Prudent Use of Resources
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water

Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Development Plan (GMJMDPD):

The ten authorities in Greater Manchester share a joint minerals DPD which 
sets out policies to guide further minerals development and identifies Areas of 
Search and Mineral Safeguarding Areas.

Page 34



GMJMDPD/8 Prior Extraction of Mineral Resources Brick Clay
Coal

Supplementary Planning Documents:

Biodiversity and Development (January 2008)
Oldham and Rochdale Urban Design Guide (September 2007)
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide (September 2007)
Residential Development (June 2016)

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – February 2019

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

RELEVANT HISTORY

18/00354/FUL Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 15 
bungalows and carer's accommodation (Class C2), 
community building, farm building, open space and car 
parking with access from Hollin Lane – Granted STC.

05/D45841 Erection of prefabricated ‘Monarch’ barn to incorporate ten 
stables – Granted STC.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Adult Care – No comments received. 

Conservation – [Summary] – 
Condition 5 – relating to archaeological investigations – 

An archaeological report has been presented within this application which 
has been completed by Oxford Archaeology. A WSI is provided within 
Appendix D of this report which comprehensively demonstrates the 
methodology undertaken to complete. The report clarifies that a total of 
13 trial trenches were excavated and that only Trench 13 revealed 
potential interest in the form of a possible Post-Medieval drain was 
observed. This being said the evaluation demonstrates that development 
area is “largely devoid of any significant or extensive historical activity”. 
The information presented is considered adequate to satisfy this 
condition.

No objections raised in relation to information presented relating to conditions 14 
(materials), 15 (window & door details) and 24 (external lighting).

Drainage – [Summary] – 

Foul Drainage

Page 35



Since 6 April 2012, under sections 23 and 24 of the Land Drainage Act (1991), 
the Council has been responsible for ordinary watercourse regulation in areas 
that are not managed by the Environment Agency i.e. non ‘main river’ streams. 
The Applicant’s Drainage drg 217/050/020 rev P1 indicates that the new 
development proposes to discharge sewage treated by a packaged sewage 
treatment plant to Whittle Brook, which falls under the remit of Rochdale 
Borough Council.

The Council will not agree to the discharge of sewage into Whittle Brook 
because this does not meet UK Government General binding rules: small 
sewage discharge to a surface water. For this site, a new packaged sewage 
treatment plant is only allowed if the distance of the furthest property is more 
than (no. of properties) x 30m from a public sewer. For this site, the distance is 
calculated as 15 x 30m = 450m. 

The council concludes that the Applicant must provide a small sewage pumping 
station and rising (pumping) main to discharge sewage to United Utilities public 
sewer on Hollin Lane at a distance of 275m.

Surface Water Drainage

Request clarification as to whether the headwall location has been agreed with 
the adjacent landowner – headwall should be located to the downstream side of 
the public footpath rather than spilling directly onto the footpath.

In order to determine that the attenuation basin outline on the Foul and Surface 
Water Drainage Layout (ref. 217/050/020 rev. P1) is suitable, more details and 
drainage calculations (ideally MicroDrainage file) are required. 

Vehicular Access Details

No objections raised to the detail submitted in relation to the access from Hollin 
Lane (condition 7).

Environment Agency – [Summary] – The presence of free phase 
hydrocarbons in BH WS3a is of concern, however there is not enough 
information to determine the risk to controlled waters.

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Unit – 

In relation to the archaeology condition no. 5, further information has been 
supplied in the form of a report by Oxford Archaeology North dated October 
2018 on the evaluation trenching they undertook to investigate geophysical 
survey anomalies. This work concluded that no significant archaeological 
features were encountered and GMAAS are therefore happy that no further 
archaeological investigations are required in the fields to the east of Dingle 
Farm. However, there is still the historic site of Dingle Farm to consider. GMAAS 
understand that a historic building survey has been carried out but we have not 
seen a copy of this. This work should involve historic research to attempt to 

Page 36



define the origin and historical development of the farm. There should be an 
archaeological watching brief during demolition and the results of this added to 
the building survey report. This work will inform the need for and location of 
further evaluation trenches on the site of the demolished farm complex as there 
is a possibility of early remains being present. GMAAS would need to approve a 
WSI for the trenching scheme for the former farm complex.

On 10th August 2018, Emily Mercer (Archaeological Consultant from CgMs) 
emailed to GMAAS the following comments:

‘At this stage I have not included any trenches over the footprint of the 
farmhouse, which is yet to be demolished. The building survey was 
undertaken last week but the refurbishment of the building in recent years 
meant that there were few features of interest, and a watching brief 
during demolition will hopefully be more productive. Once the building is 
down to ground level then maybe we can look at the best way to 
investigate the potential for earlier phases?’

In conclusion, GMAAS are happy that the fields to the east of Dingle Farm 
require no further archaeological mitigation and that the archaeology condition 
has been satisfied for that part of the development site; however, there is 
outstanding archaeology to be undertaken for the farm complex.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit – 

Comments Received 11.09.2019
The amended layout will not make any significant difference to the ecological 
issues related to this development. The additional information supplied with 
regards the previously applied conditions mean that some of these require 
modification.

Bats
The previously supplied bat reports are still valid, but may require updating prior 
to demolition.  Condition 13 of the approved permission is still valid but I also 
recommend an additional condition along the following lines is applied to any 
permission.

If the demolition hereby approved does not commence before 30th April 
2020, the building will be reassessed for bat roosting potential and the 
finding supplied to and agreed in writing by the LPA.

Badgers
The proposal indicates that additional information has been supplied regarding 
condition 11 relating to the reasonable avoidance measures for badgers. I have 
been unable to locate any such information. I am therefore unable to make any 
recommendations at this point.

Nesting Birds
Condition 12 of the previous permission should be applied to any approval of the 
revised layout application.

Himalayan Balsam

Page 37



Condition 8 of the existing permission requires submission of a method 
statement prior to site clearance or development.  Further information has been 
provided as part of this application, confirming that balsam is still present around 
Dingle Farm. I have a number of issues with this report.

First they note that it is listed as an invasive species by the Environment Agency 
but there are no specific laws.  This is incorrect.  It is an offence under the 
Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as amended to introduce, plant or cause to 
grow wild any plant listed in Schedule 9 part 2 of the Act.  Himalayan balsam is 
included within this schedule.  They are however correct in stating that soil 
contaminated with this species (specifically the seed) is regarded as controlled 
waste.

Second whilst the advice on avoidance is sound, the balsam will need to be 
controlled or removed from the site at some point as it is within the development 
footprint.  No information appears to have been provided on the actual 
methodology for control, whether manual, herbicide or excavation, though I am 
guessing the latter is preferred given the reference to waste transfer notes.

Third under risk assessment they refer to Japanese knotweed not Himalayan 
balsam.

Therefore I recommend that condition 8 of the approved permission is applied to 
any new permission.

Contributing to and Enhancing the Natural Environment
Section 170 NPPF states that the planning system should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment.  Conditions 16 and 18 dealt with this 
issue.  A document has been supplied that provides additional information 
relating to condition 16 as well as revised landscape plan to reflect the amended 
layout.

The Site compensation, enhancement and maintenance measures generally 
meets the requirements of condition 16, but I have a few minor issues with 
choice of species and proposed management and it may be premature to 
accept it as a document given the layout may change again. Issues and queries 
include:

Section 3.3.4/3.4.2 – duckweed.  Not clear why this species has been 
specifically picked out for management.  Whilst I accept it can be invasive and 
block out light in ponds that become neutrified and therefore raking out can be 
required, this is an extreme situation.  There are also other equally invasive and 
less desirable species that could colonise the pond, such a floating pennywort, 
fringed water-lily as well as aquatics such as curly waterweed, candadian 
waterweed, nuttall’s waterweed and new Zealand pigmyweed.

Section 3.4.6 – Snow.  Again not clear why this has been specified.  It is a very 
low risk in this country.

Page 38



Table 7 – Hedge planting to infill gaps around the boundary should in my 
opinion be in keeping with the local landscape.  Species such as wayfaring tree 
and spindle are not locally native and more typical of chalk and limestone 
areas.  Wild cherry is also not a typical hedgerow species.  There is also the risk 
with a list such as this of the less appropriate species such as guelder rose and 
crab apple being planted at too high a density.  I therefore recommend the new 
hedgerows along the site boundaries are 70% hawthorn, with an additional 25% 
made up of thorny species i.e. holly and dog rose, though blackthorn is another 
option where the hedge is to be allowed to spread.  (I do not recommend 
however in confined areas owing to its ability to sucker).

No information appears to have been supplied on proposed tree and shrub 
planting choices (maintenance is however covered)

Whilst not disagreeing with the locations of the bird and bat boxes more could 
be done in this area i.e. more provided, such as integral swift bricks to a 
percentage of the new dwellings.

Therefore whilst this document goes a long way towards meeting the 
requirements of condition 16, it would be easier to reapply to the new proposal 
at this stage.

The revised landscape proposal does not meet the requirements of condition 18 
as no detail on species, size of plants etc. has been provided and it is unclear 
from the key the division between amenity grassland and wildflower grassland.  
For instance the large area of grassland at the eastern end is of uniform colours 
and either amenity grassland or wildflower grassland. I would recommend the 
latter as this would be easier to maintain in this form (with say mown paths).  

I therefore recommend that condition 18 of the approved permission is applied 
to any new permission. 

Comments Received 26.09.2019
[Summary] - No objection to the proposed bat survey condition. No objection to 
the submitted Reasonable Avoidance Measures Method Statement.

Comments Received 30.09.2019
[Summary] - No objection to the proposed lighting scheme.

Highways – 

Comments Received 12.08.2019
[Summary] – No objection to Construction Method Statement. Satisfied site 
access has sufficient visibility and is of suitable construction.

Comments Received 30.09.2019
[Summary] - No objections raised in respect of the Construction Method 
Statement, Travel Plan or level of parking provision.

Highways England – [Summary] – No objection.

Page 39



Landscaping – [Summary] -

The amended layout in plan view has enough similarities with the approved 
layout to be acceptable in principle. Concerns about the following details:

1. Boundary treatments – gaps and heights;
2. Conflict between AIA/AMS, drainage proposals, services and landscape 

strategy;
3. Detention pond: additional detail of the profile and gradients of the pond 

required; 
4. Japanese knotweed identified as present on site near the north site 

boundary;
5. Detail of mitigation measures required for proximity to RPA of the 

proposed steps and ramp;
6. Full landscape planting proposals and schedules required;
7. A landscape and ecological management plan is required.

Arboricultural Method Statement and Landscape Scheme (Conditions 10 and 
18)

The AMS would have been acceptable but due to the drainage proposals within 
the RPA and the proposed steps/ramp combination, the additional advice of the 
arboriculturalist RE mitigation measures for these proposals is necessary. 

Public Protection (Environment) – 
 Subject to agreement from the EA, the completion report should contain 

details including photographs of the validation of the remediation of the 
contamination of the groundwaters around the above ground storage 
tank. 

 The report has recommended gas protection measures to CS3, three 
monitoring visits have been undertaken, timed over appropriate weather 
conditions, two quite high results have been obtained.  Design of the 
protection measures have been supplied, the completion report should 
contain validation the measures have been installed according to 
specification.

 If materials are removed from the site, waste transfer notes should be 
included in the completion report.

Public Protection (Noise) – [Summary] – No objection to the Construction 
Method Statement. The acoustic report adequately demonstrates that they can 
achieve the correct internal and external noise levels, I would recommend 
conditioning they are constructed as per the report and a post completion report 
to be submitted. Raise concerns in relation to the air source heat pumps - they 
need to be quantified and included on an addendum to the acoustic report.

Rights of Way – No comments received. 

United Utilities – No comments received. 

TOWNSHIP PLANNING PANEL

Page 40



The application was presented to the Middleton Township Planning Panel on 
12th August 2019; Members made no comment on the application.

MEMBER REPRESENTATIONS

No representations have been received from individual Members.

PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS

Objection Reps 0 Support Reps 0 Neutral Reps 0

Letters of notification were sent by the LPA to surrounding neighbours, a notice 
displayed in the vicinity of the site and a notice placed in the local press. No 
representations have been received.

ANALYSIS

1. Since the grant of planning permission in 2018 significant further work has 
been undertaken by the applicant in respect of obtaining funding for the 
development. Given the particular nature of the scheme, the design and 
interior specifications are significantly higher than a regular residential 
development, and the proportionate cost of access and drainage works is 
greater when considered within the context of provision of only 15 dwellings. 
In light of the difficulties experienced in securing funding, several rounds of 
value engineering have taken place to reduce the cost of the build, whilst 
seeking to uphold the overall quality of the development. 

Principle of Development

2. The application is made under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, a mechanism by which to vary or remove conditions associated 
with a planning permission. Where there is a relevant condition on the 
planning permission to be varied (for example, the approved plans list 
condition) section 73 can be used to apply for minor material amendments to 
the approved plans, as is the case here. Whilst approval of this application 
would, in effect, result in the issuing of a new permission, consideration 
should only be given to those elements of the scheme that differ from the 
previous approval, together with any significant change in policy and other 
material factors that have occurred in the interim.

3. National Planning Practice Guidance states that “there is no statutory 
definition of a ‘minor material amendment’ but it is likely to include any 
amendment where its scale and/or nature results in a development which is 
not substantially different from the one which has been approved”. In this 
respect the development proposal is substantially the same as the approved 
scheme in relation to design, scale, layout and access.

Page 41



4. There have been no changes to the status of the development plan since the 
grant of full planning permission 18/00354/FUL (approved July 2017). There 
have been revisions to the National Planning Policy Framework (February 
2019), but those changes have no material impact on the assessment of the 
development. 

5. The proposed amendments are detailed in the ‘Proposals’ section above and 
an analysis of the material considerations is set out below. 

Amendments – Impact on Design, Layout, Character, Relationship with 
Surrounding Land Uses and Highways

Car Parking/Circulation Layout 
6. The amended scheme includes for alterations to the layout of parking 

provision to the front of the site, at the entrance from Hollin Lane. The 
number of parking spaces (27) to be provided at this area of the site remains 
the same as previous; the layout would be altered from a one-way loop 
providing access to three rows of spaces to a single two-way access road 
with parking on either side. The arrangement follows a ‘curved’ layout which 
avoids a regimented feel to the site frontage. The indicative landscaping 
proposals shown on the site layout provide for the break-up of spaces with 
planting. It is recommended that a condition is attached requiring submission 
of the proposed surfacing materials for the car parking; this is to be 
integrated into the landscaping condition. It is not considered that the 
amendment would alter the impact of the scheme on surrounding land uses 
and, subject to the use of appropriate materials, it is not considered that the 
amendment would detrimentally alter the visual impact of the development.

Community Hub, Stables & Energy Centre
7. The approved proposals for the site included the provision of a ‘Hub’, a 

community building comprising a large performance space with stage and a 
social space including kitchen and servery. In order to address financial 
constraints, the scale and function of the Hub is proposed to be revised – the 
amended hub building (‘Block A’) is approximately half the size of that 
originally proposed and would comprise a single multi-function social space 
with an associated kitchen and WC facilities. The Hub is also relocated, 
closer to Block B. Although the reduction in the size of the Hub is regrettable, 
the space would still deliver a valuable community asset for residents of the 
site, providing a safe communal space for socialising and activities.

8. The previously proposed stables/farm building is also removed from the 
proposed scheme, as is the centralised ‘energy centre’ (substation). A 
reduced footprint pumping station would be retained but relocated from the 
western-most edge of the site to adjacent the Hub. The relocated pumping 
station would sit adjacent to the gable side-elevation of Plot 36 on the 
neighbouring Wainhomes development site – given it would comprise below-
ground infrastructure and would be shielded by hedgerow planting, it is 
considered that it would share an acceptable relationship with the 
neighbouring residential development.

Page 42



9. In light of the reduction in extent and scale of communal facilities, the level of 
car parking to be provided within the development has been revisited; the 
20-space car park at the bottom end of the site is to be removed. 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Highways Authority, which has 
raised no objection to the revised arrangements.

10.The reduction in size of the Hub and the removal of the stable building & 
energy centre from the scheme reduces the extent of built-form on the site, 
allowing for the retention of an undeveloped (save for the landscaped 
ground-level detention pond) area of the site in the south-west corner and a 
reduction in the visual and spatial impacts of the development on the Green 
Belt.

Bungalow Design
11.The design of the homes was originally informed by guidance and standards 

contained within Lifetime Homes, Housing Design for People with Autism 
(Kingswood Trust, Helen Hamlyn Centre), Housing our Ageing Population 
(HAPPI) and Building the Right Home (NHS).  The simple ‘house type’ 
originally proposed for the site is retained in the amended scheme, which 
brings an element of consistency to the overall development. 

12.Minor amendments are proposed to the elevation design of the dwellings; 
the most substantive of the changes are the removal of porch canopy 
projections, a reduction in the number of cladded, projecting window/door 
surrounds, and the removal of rooflights. Small-scale changes to the footprint 
of the blocks are also proposed. The amendments preserve the traditional 
gable-ended building forms and the contemporary feel to the development 
carries through. A simple palette of materials is still proposed; a 
comprehensive materials schedule has been provided and is considered in 
the relevant analysis below. It is considered that the simplicity of the design 
and materials choices would result in understated dwellings which would sit 
comfortably within the landscape and the wider site.

Drainage
13.The original scheme for the site proposed attenuation of surface water 

collected within the site using a combination of attenuation conduits and 
tanks. In light of the high cost of provision of such infrastructure and the 
opportunity afforded by the formation of additional open space within the site 
at the western end, it is proposed to attenuate surface water discharge from 
the site using a detention pond Sustainable Urban Drainage (SuDS) feature. 
Technical analysis of the proposals is contained in the relevant section 
below. The visual impact of the feature would be minimal, as the pond would 
be excavated beneath the existing land level and would make use of 
appropriate planting to ensure the feature blends into the surrounding soft 
landscaping, subject to further detail to be required by condition. The pond 
would be appropriately secured using boundary treatments to separate the 
feature from the residential areas of the site.

Boundary Treatments

Page 43



14.Concerns raised by the Authority’s Landscape Design Officer are noted; in 
order to allow for production and consideration of appropriate proposals, the 
applicant has confirmed withdrawal of the submitted boundary treatments 
plan and has requested that submission of detail is required by condition.

Detail submitted to satisfy conditions

15. In order to expedite commencement of development on site, the developer 
has submitted additional detail to the LPA to satisfy requirements of 
conditions attached to the original permission – all condition numbers 
referenced below relate to planning permission 18/00354/FUL. 

Construction Management Plan (Condition 3)
16.The application is accompanied by a Construction Method Statement, 

including detail of the layout of the site during construction stage. The layout 
includes for the provision of appropriate materials storage compounds, 
welfare and office facilities and parking for contractors. The proposals have 
been reviewed by the Highways Authority and Public Protection Service, 
which have raised no objection. 

Site Investigation (Condition 4)
17.The original planning application was supported by Phase I and II site 

investigation reports; planning permission was granted subject to a condition 
requiring submission of a remediation strategy. The current application is 
accompanied by a Phase III remediation strategy. Consultation has been 
undertaken with the Council’s Public Protection Service, which has raised no 
objection to the proposed strategy, subject to a condition requiring 
submission of a verification report prior to occupation.

18.At the time of publication, consultation with the Environment Agency remains 
ongoing; an update will be provided to Members in advance of the committee 
meeting.

Archaeological Investigations (Condition 5)
19.The application is accompanied by a report containing the results of 

evaluation trenching undertaken on site to investigate geophysical survey 
anomalies. The report concludes that no significant archaeological features 
were encountered and these results have been accepted by the Council’s 
Conservation Officer and the Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory 
Service (GMAAS). As Dingle Farm itself has not yet been demolished, the 
trenching to date only covers the fields to the east of the farm. 

20.GMAAS notes that there should be an archaeological watching brief during 
demolition, which will inform the need for and location of further evaluation 
trenches on the site of the demolished farm complex, as there is a possibility 
of early remains being present. A relevant condition is recommended, 
requiring the implementation of the works set out in the submitted Written 
Scheme of Investigation (WSI).

Drainage (Condition 6)

Page 44



21.A Sustainable Drainage Strategy for surface water drainage, in accordance 
with the hierarchy set out in the NPPF, was submitted with the application. 
Soakaway drainage for the site has been excluded on the basis of poor 
infiltration rates and the presence of shallow groundwater. Discharge is 
therefore proposed to a watercourse to the western edge of the 
development, which is a tributary of Whittle Brook.

22.The proposed system is designed such that surface water from roofs and 
hardstanding (water from pathways being collected in French drains parallel 
to the footpaths) would be collected and conveyed within the site to a large 
planted attenuation/detention basin. Depressions would be formed through 
the site as an overland flood route to an existing ditch on the northern 
boundary. Surface water collected in the detention basin would be 
discharged at a restricted flow rate to the watercourse leading to Whittle 
Brook.

23.An existing surface water culvert which enters the site from the adjacent 
Wainhomes development would be subject of replacement with a new 
surface water sewer, to take the flow from both development sites.

24.Detail originally submitted with the current application proposed that foul 
water would be collected within the site and discharged to a package 
sewage treatment plant within the site itself, which would then discharge 
treated water to the surface water detention basin. Revised draft proposals 
have been submitted to the LPA proposing discharge of foul water to an 
existing sewer on Hollin Lane, in order to comply with EA requirements on 
use of package sewage treatment plants. 

25.At the time of publication, the Authority is awaiting submission of final revised 
drainage plans to address queries raised in the consultation process; an 
update will be provided to Members in advance of the committee meeting.

Vehicular Access from Hollin Lane (Condition 7)
26.A comprehensive scheme for the provision of an access route to the site 

from Hollin Lane has been submitted, including the provision of a right-turn 
facility into the site. The scheme has been reviewed by the Highway 
Authority and Highways England, which have raised no objection to the 
proposals. The Council’s Drainage and Flooding Engineer has also raised no 
objections to the proposed highway design.

Invasive Plant Species (Condition 8)
27.A ‘Method Statement for Himalayan Balsam’ has been submitted for 

consideration. The report has been reviewed by the Greater Manchester 
Ecology Unit, which has raised a number of concerns with the content, 
including that there is a lack of clear proposals for the eradication of existing 
Himalayan Balsam on site. The submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
also makes note of the presence of Japanese Knotweed on the northern 
boundary of the site, which was not addressed in the report. 

Page 45



28.At the time of publication, the Authority is awaiting submission of a revised 
method statement for removal or long-term management/eradication of both 
invasive plant species. An update will be provided to Members in advance of 
the committee meeting.

Finished Floor Levels (Condition 9)
29.The revised layout plan includes detail of the proposed finished floor levels of 

the development. No substantial alterations to levels are proposed across 
the site, with the development following the natural topography. Accordingly, 
the submitted detail is considered acceptable. At the time of publication, the 
Authority is awaiting submission of a revised site plan providing detail of the 
proposed level for the Hub; an update will be provided to Members in 
advance of the committee meeting.

Arboricultural Method Statement (Condition 10)
30.The present application is accompanied by an updated Arboricultural Impact 

Assessment (AIA) and Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS). Although 
conflict has been identified between the submitted AIA/AMS and the 
drainage strategy, landscaping and lighting schemes, the substantive 
content of the plans are acceptable. Accordingly, it is recommended that a 
condition is attached requiring development to be carried out in accordance 
with the provisions of the AMS; the drainage strategy, landscaping and 
lighting proposals to be agreed by virtue of separate conditions will be 
required to comply with the measures within the approved AMS.

Badger Reasonable Avoidance Measures (Condition 11)
31.The application is accompanied by a Badger Reasonable Avoidance 

Measures Method Statement; the statement has been reviewed and 
approved by the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit. Accordingly, a condition 
is recommended requiring the implementation of the RAMMS for the duration 
of works on site.

External Materials & Window and Door Detailing (Conditions 14 and 15)
32.Detail of the proposed external finishing materials for the buildings has been 

submitted; the main body of the buildings is to be finished in Weinerberger 
Anglesey Weathered Buff brick set alongside Marley Eternit weatherboard 
cladding and blue/black fibre cement roof slates, dark grey uPVC 
windows/doors and charcoal fibre cement cladding to the feature elements. 
The buildings make use of a simple palette of materials, which would 
complement the contemporary design of the scheme and would sit 
comfortably within the landscape and wider site. A condition is 
recommended requiring delivery of the development in accordance with the 
approved materials schedule.

33.Sectional drawings and specifications have been submitted of the proposed 
window and door openings; all openings would benefit from deep reveals, to 
add an element of depth to the façade of each of the buildings, and the wrap-
around nature of cladding etc. into reveals would ensure a high-quality finish. 
A condition is recommended requiring development to be carried out in 
accordance with these details.

Page 46



Biodiversity Enhancement, Landscaping & Boundary Treatments (Conditions 
16, 18 & 19)
34.A package of biodiversity/ecological compensation, enhancement and 

maintenance measures was submitted which is considered to generally meet 
the requirements of the condition attached to the original planning 
permission, however issues with choice of species and proposed 
management have been raised by the Ecology Unit. At the time of 
publication, the Ecology Unit is assessing a revised package of measures; 
an update will be provided to Members in advance of the committee meeting.

35.The level of detail provided in respect of the landscaping of the site and 
proposed boundary treatments is considered insufficient; accordingly, it is 
proposed that relevant conditions are reattached to the permission to require 
submission of detail at a later stage.

Travel Plan (Condition 20)
36.A Travel Plan has been submitted with the application which has been the 

subject of consultation with the Highway Authority; the Authority is satisfied 
that the plan contains appropriate measures to encourage travel by 
sustainable modes of transport.

37.An amended Travel Plan, containing corrections to administrative errors in 
the submitted document, has been requested by the LPA. At the time of 
publication, the LPA is awaiting receipt of a revised document; an update will 
be provided to Members in advance of the committee meeting.

Noise Mitigation Measures (Condition 21)
38.Revised noise mitigation measures have been submitted to reflect the 

changes to the layout of the development; the report has been subject of 
consultation with the Council’s Public Protection Service which is satisfied 
that the proposed measures are acceptable. A condition is recommended 
requiring implementation of the mitigation proposals.

External Plant (Condition 23)
39.The revised scheme includes for the provision of air source heat pumps to 

each of the residential blocks within the development. Although specification 
of the units proposed has been provided, insufficient information has been 
provided to determine the suitability of the plant with respect to the amenity 
of surrounding occupiers. Accordingly, a condition is recommended requiring 
approval of the design, appearance, location and acoustic specification 
(including a Noise Impact Assessment) of the air source heat pumps prior to 
installation.

External Lighting (Condition 24)
40.A scheme of external lighting has been submitted with the application; 

concerns are raised in respect of the ‘urban’ nature of street lighting to the 
entrance and car parking areas of the site. In order that the matter can be 
considered in further detail, a condition requiring submission of a revised 
scheme is recommended.

Page 47



Very Special Circumstances and Conclusion

41.The principle of the development was established in the previous grant of 
planning permission (18/00354/FUL); the proposed amendments would 
neither significantly alter the character or impacts of the development or 
result in any greater harm to the Green Belt than the previously consented 
development, noting in particular that the amended scheme includes a 
reduction in the volume of buildings to be delivered on site.

42.The proposal, as with the consented scheme, would result in harm to the 
Green Belt by reason of being inappropriate development and its impact on 
openness. The scheme would also have a limited impact on landscape 
character and appearance.

43. In determining the previous application, the Council concluded that very 
special circumstances existed which clearly outweighed the identified harm 
to the Green Belt. The proposed amendments would not detract from the 
identified benefits of the scheme and it is considered that the amended 
development proposal would continue to bring forward benefits of substantial 
scale that weigh heavily in favour of the scheme. The scheme is a direct 
local response to a national and local agenda which seeks to focus on the 
provision of joined up care and support allowing people with autism and 
severe learning difficulties to live in settled, secure and appropriate 
accommodation and be able to live full, happy and meaningful lives. The 
innovative, unique and sector-leading scheme will meet these needs for its 
residents for life.

44.As such, when looking at the development as a whole, and in accordance 
with paragraph 144 of the Framework, very special circumstances are 
considered to exist because the harm to the Green Belt and all other harms 
that have been identified are clearly outweighed by other considerations. 
Therefore, although the proposal does not accord with the development plan 
when read as a whole, other material considerations indicate that planning 
permission should be granted.

45.Planning conditions have been amended and updated where possible to 
reflect the additional information submitted in order to satisfy the 
requirements of a number of conditions attached to the original planning 
permission, in order to expedite commencement of development in the event 
this permission is granted.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves to:
a) GRANT planning permission subject to a schedule of conditions to be 

communicated in an update report to committee;
b) Refer the application to the Secretary of State; and
c) If the Secretary of State is not minded to ‘call in’ the application for 

determination, the Head of Planning Services be delegated to release 

Page 48



the decision notice subject to the schedule of conditions to be 
communicated in an update report to committee.

Page 49



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 9 October 2019
Portfolio Councillor Carol Wardle

Cabinet Member for
Planning,  Development 
& Housing

Report Author Michael Atkinson-Smith
Public/Private Document Public

Application: 19/00693/FUL Township: Rochdale South Ward: Bamford

Applicant: Mr Mark Sexton Agent: Mr Garry Griffiths

Site Address: 687 Bury Road, Rochdale OL11 4AU

Proposal: 
Demolition of existing dwelling, and the erection of 7No detached 
dwellings with access road and associated parking - Resubmission 
of 18/01199/FUL

SITE LOCATION

Page 50



DELEGATION

1.1 The application has been called up by Councillor Angela Smith on the 
grounds that the propsal would result in overdevelopment of the site.

PROPOSAL SUMMARY

2.1 Planning permission is sought for the erection of seven detached 
dwellings with access road and associated parking following the 
demolition of the existing dwelling (resubmission of 18/01199/FUL).

RECOMMENDATION

3.1 It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves 
to GRANT planning permission subject to conditions.

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1

4.2

The proposed development would provide seven large detached 
dwellings, resulting in a net increase of six following the demolition of the 
existing dwelling on site, therefore contributing to the supply of larger and 
higher value housing within the Borough in accordance with Core 
Strategy policy C3. The scheme for consideration has been extensively 
amended over the original submission ref. 18/01199/FUL to provide 
dwellings of good design in an appropriate layout, minimise the impact on 
the trees lining Bury Road protected by Tree Preservation Order 251a 
and minimise the amenity impacts for surrounding occupiers. 
Environmental impacts, including on the adjacent SBI and protected and 
invasive species can be satisfactorily mitigated or controlled through 
condition.

On this basis the application is considered to be acceptable in matters of 
principle and detail and the application duly accords with the relevant 
policies contained within the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, the saved 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Page 51



SITE

The application relates to a large two storey detached dwelling at 687 Bury Road 
in Rochdale and its curtilage (measuring circa 0.38 hectares). Access to the site 
is via a gated driveway directly off Bury Road which runs to the north of the site. 
Along this front boundary is a 2m high stone wall and directly behind this wall is a 
row of mature trees which are protected under Tree Preservation Order 251a. 

The north eastern boundary of the site adjoins a valley which runs down to the 
River Roch. The valley is within the River Roch Greenspace Corridor and is a 
designated site of ecological and geological importance (Grade A SBI) and is 
heavily wooded. On the other side of the valley are the four large dwellings 
known collectively as ‘Ryefields’.

To the south east and south west of the site are the dwellings on Camberley 
Drive. Those to the south east are bungalows and those to the south west are 
two storey dwellings. Numbers 58 – 64 have rear gardens of between 29 metres 
and 37 metres in length, leading up to the boundary shared with the application 
site. The gardens of numbers 66 and 68 Camberley Drive do not adjoin the 
application site and are enclosed by the gardens of 64 and 70 Camberley Drive. 
The gardens of 70 and 72 Camberley Drive are approximately 26 metres in 
length. At present the boundaries shared with the properties on Camberley Drive 
are well screened by trees; however these trees are not protected. Directly to the 
west is an area of undeveloped wooded land known as ‘Bunker’s Hill’ and the 
trees on this site are protected by Tree Preservation Order 176.    

In August 2007, planning permission was granted, subject to conditions, to 
demolish the existing dwelling and erect 6 semi-detached houses and a block of 
10 apartments (ref: 07/D49282). An extension of time application for 
implementation of the previously approved proposal was granted in June 2010 
(ref: 10/D53018). A further planning permission to replace the extant 2010 
permission was granted in January 2014 (ref: 13/00652/FUL).  A further outline 
planning permission (ref. 16/01357/OUT) for the erection of 3 detached dwellings 
and associated garages including access was granted in February 2017, which 
did not include the demolition of the existing dwellinghouse on site. 

PROPOSAL

The application proposes the demolition of the existing dwellinghouse on site – 
Midge Hall - and the erection of seven detached two storey residential dwellings.  
The proposed dwellings would include two 4-bedroom dwellings and five 5-
bedroom dwellings.  The development would utilise three house types which 
would blend elements of traditional and contemporary form, including the use of 
asymmetric gables to the front with vertically emphasised feature windows in 
two of the house types.  The primary building materials would be red facing 
brickwork and grey concrete tiles.

Access into the development make use of the existing entrance from Bury Road 
and then an access road would be laid out through the centre of the site, 
including a turning head.  The access road would remain un-adopted by the 

Page 52



Council and take the form and design principles of a private driveway.  Two 
parking spaces would be provided for each dwelling, although Plot 7 could 
easily accommodate a third.

All properties would include front garden areas with more substantial gardens to 
the rear.  Bin storage has been indicated for each dwelling to the rear, with 
direct external access from the rear garden areas to the street provided.  A 
communal paved bin collection area would be provided adjacent to the site 
entrance to be utilised on collection day.

A number of trees would be removed within the site to facilitate the proposed 
development, including fourteen individual trees and five groups. However, all of 
the trees protected by Tree Preservation Order 251a would be retained, with the 
exception of T17 (Sycamore) which would be removed for arboricultrural 
reasons and T1 (Holly) which is a category C tree adjacent to the site entrance. 
Replacement planting would be provided throughout the site, including along the 
western perimeter and in the front garden areas of some dwellings.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 2006:

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water

Rochdale Core Strategy (CS) 2016:

C1 Delivering the right amount of housing in the right places
C3 Delivering the right type of housing
P3 Improving design of new development
G6 Enhancing green infrastructure
G7 Increasing the value of biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution, contamination and land instability
T2 Improving accessibility
DM1 General development requirements
SD1 Delivering sustainable development

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD):

Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development (June 2016)
Oldham and Rochdale Urban Design Guide

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – February 2019
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Page 53



RELEVANT HISTORY

18/01199/FUL Demolition of existing dwelling and the erection of 8 
detached dwellings with access road and associated 
parking.  Refused March 2018 for the following reasons:

1. The proposed development would result in an unacceptable loss of Trees 
subject to a Tree Preservation Order, namely T8, T9, T10 and T13 
adjacent to the west of the site entrance.  In addition, the scale of 
proposed tree clearance is excessive and the proximity and layout of 
plots 6-8 would result in increased pressure for pruning and removal of 
the remaining protected trees by the future occupants. Furthermore, 
insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate the impacts of 
the proposal on trees that could be affected by the development adjacent 
to the site including both within the River Roch Greenspace Corridor, 
which is a designated site of ecological and geological importance 
including the Meadowcroft Woods Grade A Site of Biological Importance, 
and within Tree Preservation Order TP0176 (Bunkers Hill).  As such, the 
application both fails to comply with, and demonstrate accordance with, 
the requirements of Core Strategy policies P3, G6 and G7 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

2. The proposed layout would result in separation distances of up to only 
8.2m from the two storey rear elevations of plots 2-5 to the rear boundary 
shared with Nos. 60-64 Camberley Drive which result in undue 
overlooking and loss of privacy for the occupiers of these dwellings.  In 
addition, a satisfactory standard of residential amenity would not be 
afforded to the future occupiers of plots 6-8 through overshadowing of the 
rear outdoor amenity space by the dwellings themselves and by the close 
presence of tree canopies to the first floor habitable room windows, which 
would harm outlook and restrict light to the widows.  Accordingly the 
application is contrary to Core Strategy policy DM1, the Supplementary 
Planning Document ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development (2016) and the requirements of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

3. The proposal, by virtue of the layout of the development, includes the 
loss of a large number of trees, including trees the subject of a Tree 
Preservation Order. This which constitutes poor design and would result 
in harm to the character of the landscape setting and the street scene of 
Bury Road. Furthermore, the design, scale and massing of the proposed 
dwellings fails to take the opportunities available to improve the character 
and quality of the area or achieve high quality design. The application is 
therefore contrary to policies P3, C3 and DM1 of the adopted Rochdale 
Core Strategy and the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

4. Insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate adequate 
servicing arrangements in respect of manoeuvrability for refuse collection 
vehicles within the site, or an alternative refuse collection strategy that 

Page 54



conforms to the guidelines set in the Manual for Streets.  As such it is not 
possible to conclude that the proposal fully meets with the requirements 
of Core Strategy policies T2 and DM1 and the requirements of the 
National Policy Framework. 

5. The application is accompanied by insufficient information to demonstrate 
the potential impacts of the development on bats. The Council’s 
ecological consultant lacks confidence in the findings of the submitted 
Phase I Habitat Survey and Daytime Bat Survey and as such it is not 
considered that an appropriate level of information has been provided to 
adequately assess the potential for the presence of bats or their roosts on 
site or the impact on foraging habitat.  It cannot therefore be concluded 
that the requirements of Core Strategy policy G7 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework in respect of preventing or mitigating harm to 
a protected species or its habitat have been met.

16/01357/OUT Outline application (including access) for the erection of 3 
detached dwellings and associated garages.  Granted STC 
February 2017.

13/00652/FUL Application for a new planning permission to replace extant 
planning permission D53018 for residential development (6 
semi-detached and 1 x 3 storey block of 10 apartments).  
Granted STC January 2014.

13/00505/WTTPO Application for works to various trees subject to TPO No. 
176 which includes:-  Remove the twin-stemmed Ash along 
the north boundary.  Granted STC July 2013.

10/D53018 Application For A New Planning Permission To Replace 
Extant Planning Permission D49282 For Residential 
Development (6 Semi-Detached And 1 X 3 Storey Block Of 
10 Apartments).  Granted STC June 2010

08/D50489 To Undertake Development Of 16 Dwellings Approved 
Under Planning Permission D49282 Without Compliance 
With Condition 5 Relating To Affordable Housing.

07/D49282 Residential Development - 6 Semi-Detached Dwellings And 
1 X 3 Storey Block Of 10 Apartments – Granted STC.

00/D38303 Widening Of Existing Vehicular Access To A Classified 
Road And Increase In Height Of Existing Boundary Wall To 
2.0 Metres – Granted STC.

00/D37661 Demolition Of Existing Garage And Outhouses And 
Erection Of Two Storey Extension To Side And 
Conservatory Extension To Rear With First Floor Balcony 
To Rear Of Dwelling – Granted STC.

Page 55



CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit - The GMEU commented on these 
ecological documents which are still valid as part of the previous application 
18/01199/FUL. No significant ecological issues were identified by the 
developer’s ecological consultant. Ecological issues relating to bats, nesting 
birds, invasive species, proximity to Meadowcroft Wood SBI and Net gain can 
be resolved via condition and or informative.

Bats
The building was assessed as having negligible bat roosting potential in 2018, 
but following comments by the GMEU an emergence survey was also carried 
out in May 2019, when no evidence of roosting activity was found.   I now have 
no reason to doubt the findings of the report based on the level of survey.  As 
bats turn up in unexpected locations and the high risk location of the property I 
recommend an informative along the following lines is applied to any 
permission: ‘Whilst the building to be demolished has been assessed as 
negligible risk for bats, the applicant is reminded that under the Habitat 
Regulation it is an offence to disturb, harm or kill bats.  If a bat is found during 
demolition all work should cease immediately and a suitably licensed bat worker 
employed to assess how best to safeguard the bat(s).  Natural England should 
also be informed.’

Nesting Birds
The development site has significant bird nesting potential both within 
outbuildings and the garden landscape.  All British birds nests and eggs (with 
certain limited exceptions) are protected by Section 1 of the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981. No works to trees or shrubs shall occur or demolition of 
outbuilding commence between the 1st March and 31st August in any year 
unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably experienced ecologist has been 
carried out immediately prior to clearance and written confirmation provided that 
no active bird nests are present which has been agreed in writing by the LPA.

Invasive Species
Monbretia and rhododendron were identified on the site.  Species such as 
monbretia and Rhododendron ponticum are included within this schedule 9 part 
2 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as amended. It is an offence to 
introduce or cause to grow wild any plant listed under this schedule.  It is 
possible that the rhododendrons on site are not the wild type i.e. ornamental 
varieties and therefore not subject to this schedule.  To ensure no offence is 
committed through movement of these species off-site in to a semi-natural 
location I recommend a condition along the following lines: Prior to any 
earthworks a method statement detailing control measures for monbretia and 
Rhododendron should be supplied to and agreed in writing to the LPA.  The 
agreed method statement shall be adhered to and implemented in full unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA.

Proximity to Meadowcroft Wood SBI
The consultants note the proximity of the development and lack of direct impact 
and concluded there was no risk because of the retention of boundary planting.  

Page 56



However I note from the landscape plan that the eastern most dwelling appears 
to be located very close to the SBI boundary with the risk during construction of 
debris and run-off entering the SBI.  I therefore recommend that a condition 
along the following lines is applied to any permission: Prior to any earthworks a 
method statement detailing measures to protect Meadowcroft Wood SBI from 
debris, accidental incursion and run-off during construction shall be supplied to 
and agreed in writing by the LPA.  There is also the risk post construction of 
surface water run-off being diverted in to the SBI. (Noted as a possibility in the 
utilities statement)  I therefore recommend that clarification is sort on the 
drainage proposals for the site prior to determination as this would cause 
temporary negative impacts that that would require mitigation.

Contributing to and Enhancing the Natural Environment
Section 170 of the NPPF 2018 states that the planning system should contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment.  The site is generally of low 
ecological value.  I am satisfied that there is adequate scope within the soft 
landscape proposals to ensure no net loss, the indicative landscape plan 
including retention of boundary trees and new planting.   I would recommend the 
addition of bird boxes to mitigate for loss of bird nesting habitat.  The detail can 
be conditioned.

Highways and Engineering - We have no objection to a residential 
development at this location but a number of amendments should be made to 
the proposals prior to consent being granted.  The site has ample parking for a 
development of this nature and I do not expect problematic traffic volumes at 
this location. Access to the site is at an existing location and appears to be 
adequate. A development of this size should be an adopted but the highways 
layout is not adoptable. The road width should be increased to 5.5m. The 
current road is too narrow and with the curve of the road vehicles will struggle to 
pass. This will be particularly difficult if visitors cars are parked on the highway.  
2m footways should be on both sides of the highway all the way to the site 
entrance to avoid pedestrians having to walk on the road.   The turning head 
could not accommodate a refuse vehicle and given the narrow roads I do not 
believe a refuse vehicle could navigate the roads. I note the bin store on the 
plans but a development of this size and nature should be adopted and refuse 
vehicles should be able to access the site. The narrow roads could cause issues 
for emergency services accessing the site. Whilst we have no major road safety 
concerns I have issues with pedestrian safety due to the lack of footway. The 
narrow roads could be cause of vehicle conflict this would not be an issue were 
it not for the curve of the road. In its form I object to these proposals. I would 
however invite the applicant to amend their plans as outlined and resubmit. We 
have no objections to a residential development but not with this layout.

Additional response received in relation to revised private driveway layout:  On 
the understanding that the site is not adopted I do not object to the proposal.

Landscaping/Tree Officer – I have reviewed the amended site plan and 
amended tree protection plan.  All is satisfactory except for the location of the 
pre-cast concrete slabs (bin stores) within RPA, of plots 2, 6 and 7; particularly 
plot 7. As bins are not the most attractive of items, I can understand the desire 

Page 57



to locate them away from the potential viewpoints of lounge and dining areas, 
however, because they are sited in the RPA areas, I have concerns about the 
detail of the concrete slab bases.  Bin bases should be of a no-dig 
constructional detail in these plots too, just like the communal bin store area on 
the driveway, to protect the tree roots.  

Lead Local Flood Authority / Drainage - Summary: No Drainage Proposals 
were submitted.  In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should 
be drained in the most sustainable way. The drainage scheme for the 
development shall be in accordance with the NPPG’s hierarchy, in the following 
order of priority: into the ground (infiltration); to a surface water body; to a 
surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; or to a 
combined sewer.  Guidance on soakaway suitability can be found in BRE 
digest 365, available online or from the Authority’s Drainage & Flooding 
Engineer.  In the event of surface water discharging to sewerage:- the rate of 
discharge shall be restricted to the lowest possible rate; prior to connection to the 
combined sewer in Bury Rd, the flow rate shall be agreed with United Utilities, 
who own this sewer; and foul & surface water system shall be separate and only 
combined at the site’s final outfall manhole i.e. in accordance with Building 
Regulations Part H5 (2010).  Most of the site is greenfield, apart from the main 
building and ancillary buildings. Therefore, any calculations on existing rainfall 
runoff should be based on greenfield runoff, with an allowance for the existing 
buildings’ brownfield footprint. UU & RBC wish to target a reduction in 
accordance with national standards on sustainable drainage which seek to 
reduce run-off to greenfield rates.  Our minimum expectation for brownfield site 
areas is a 50% reduction in the rate of discharge.  To minimise surface water 
attenuation requirements, the council’s officer suggests that permeable asphalt 
for the access road/ and or parking may be suitable.  For detailed design, the 
Applicant can consult further with the Drainage Officer.

Public Protection (Environment) – The previous report recommended a site 
investigation so the recommendation for an intrusive investigation should be 
conditioned. 

The Coal Authority - I have reviewed the proposals and confirm that the 
application site falls within the defined Development High Risk Area; therefore 
within the application site and surrounding area there are coal mining features 
and hazards which need to be considered in relation to the determination of this 
planning application. The Coal Authority records indicate likely unrecorded coal 
mining at shallow depth beneath the application site.  However, the part of the 
site where the development is proposed lies outside of the defined High Risk 
Area.  Therefore we do not consider that a Coal Mining Risk Assessment is 
necessary to support this proposal and we do not object to this planning 
application. Although the development proposed is outside of the defined 
Development High Risk Area as the site lies within an area where coal mining 
activity has taken place it is requested that the following wording is included as 
an Informative Note on any planning permission granted: The proposed 
development lies within a coal mining area which may contain unrecorded coal 

Page 58



mining related hazards.  If any coal mining feature is encountered during 
development, this should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority.

United Utilities - Summary: In accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the 
site should be drained on a separate system with foul water draining to the 
public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way (in 
accordance with the NPPG hierarchy).  Without effective management and 
maintenance, sustainable drainage systems can fail or become ineffective. As a 
provider of wastewater services, we believe we have a duty to advise the Local 
Planning Authority of this potential risk to ensure the longevity of the surface 
water drainage system and the service it provides to people. We also wish to 
minimise the risk of a sustainable drainage system having a detrimental impact 
on the public sewer network should the two systems interact. We therefore 
recommend the Local Planning Authority include a condition in their Decision 
Notice regarding a management and maintenance regime for any sustainable 
drainage system that is included as part of the proposed development.  If the 
applicant intends to obtain a water supply from United Utilities for the proposed 
development, we strongly recommend they engage with us at the earliest 
opportunity. If reinforcement of the water network is required to meet the 
demand, this could be a significant project and the design and construction 
period should be accounted for.

TOWNSHIP PLANNING PANEL

The application will be discussed at the meeting of the meeting of the Rochdale 
Township Planning Panel on Tuesday 8th October 2019 and an update report 
duly provided.

PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS

Letters of notification were sent to surrounding neighbours and a site notice 
posted in the vicinity.  Four unique letters of representation were received citing 
the following concerns:

 Seven houses is too great a number for the site.
 Insufficient parking spaces have been provided to serve the potential 

number of residents.  With these being marketed as ‘high value’ houses, 
the number of cars per household is likely to exceed two and there is no 
parking provision for visitors.

 The excessive density of the development has not been meaningfully 
addressed since the previous application.

 The side elevation of plot 3 would be visually intrusive to the occupiers of 
Nos. 58 and 60 Camberley Drive.

 Too many large and mature trees would be removed affecting visual 
amenity.

 The house types proposed are significantly larger and of a different 
character to neighbouring houses that are low dormer bungalows.

Page 59



 The retained trees along the western boundary would overshadow the 
affected plots resulting in pressure for future removal.  If approved, these 
trees should be protected by a Tree Preservation Order.

 Replacement planting to mitigate for the loss through felling within the 
front gardens of the proposed dwellings and the limited space available 
would likely lead to early future removal to make the front gardens 
usable.

 The earlier refusal reason in respect of design and visual appearance has 
not been adequately addressed.

 The separation distance between habitable room windows and the 
western boundary is less than the 10.5m required by the Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development SPD.

 The proposed dwellings are too close together and will have the 
appearance of a terraced row which would fail the Council’s test of ‘high 
quality design’.

 Previous approved schemes for the site were more appropriate.

The matters raised above that are material planning considerations are 
discussed in the Analysis section below.

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development

1. The proposed application site is located within the Defined Urban Area as 
designated under the Proposals Map of the Unitary Development Plan 
(UDP).  New development, wherever possible and appropriate, should be 
concentrated within the urban area in order to support urban regeneration 
and to protect the countryside.  

2. It is noted that the principle of development of the site for residential 
purposes has already been established in the issuing of previous 
planning approvals 07/D49282, 10/D53018, 13/00652/FUL and 
16/01357/OUT.  Weight is afforded to the fact that planning permission 
has previously been granted for the demolition of the existing 
dwellinghouse on site and redevelopment with a higher number of homes 
and greater density of development. The demolition of the existing 
dwelling is therefore considered to be acceptable. 

3. Annexe 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework defines ‘previously 
developed land’ as land which is or was occupied by a permanent 
structure, including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should 
not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and 
any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes, amongst 
others, land in built-up areas such as private residential gardens.  The 
site would predominantly therefore, with the exception of the footprint of 
the dwelling and its outbuildings, be considered to comprise previously 
un-developed, or Greenfield, land. Policy C1 of the Core Strategy outlines 
that the Council will promote the reuse and regeneration of vacant and 
underused previously developed sites and focus only on sustainable 

Page 60



Greenfield sites which provide the best access to a range of services, 
jobs and facilities and have limited impact on green infrastructure and 
amenity. 

4. The latest published information suggests that the Council can 
demonstrate more than a six year supply of housing land based on the 
Core Strategy target; however this does not preclude the promotion of 
sustainable development where this can assist in delivering additional 
housing to meet local needs. 

5. As such, the principle of development of a Greenfield site such as this in 
the urban area for residential purposes can be acceptable; however, this 
factor must be balanced against all other material considerations, as 
outlined below. The development of under-used Greenfield and backland 
sites can help to make more efficient use of land within the urban area, 
however, proposals involving the development of residential gardens 
require careful consideration to ensure the development is appropriate, 
there is no loss of amenity for existing residents, that there are proper 
means of access and parking and that adequate space can be retained 
between new and existing dwellings. Sensitive design and good 
landscaping are also key considerations, to ensure that new buildings fit 
successfully into existing sites.

6. On the basis that the proposal would make a valuable contribution to 
housing supply within the Borough, whilst being in a sustainable location 
within reasonable proximity to local amenities and public transport 
facilities,  it is considered that the principle of development is therefore 
acceptable in accordance with saved Policy G/D/1 of the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan, Strategic Policies C1, C3 and SD1 of the 
adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the requirements of the National 
Planning Policy Framework in respect of housing supply and 
sustainability.  

Layout, Design and Appearance

7. The surrounding area is predominantly residential with a mix of large 
detached houses set in generous plots lining Bury Road and smaller 
dwellings in a fairly standard low density suburban housing estate layout 
to the south.  Whilst the layout proposed is denser than that of the 
immediate area, it is noted that the site is well screened from the 
highway; with a dense line of trees, protected by preservation orders, 
located on the northern boundary of the site, limiting views from Bury 
Road. There are also similar forms of development along Bury Road 
itself. The visual impact of the increased density in contrast to existing 
surrounding developments would not be read from key public vantage 
points outside the site and the density of the development would make 
efficient use of land. 

8. The existing dwelling on site is a large detached property of an attractive 
appearance that sits well within its context and its loss would undoubtedly 

Page 61



result in some harm to the character of the wider area.  However, it is 
noted that the principle of its demolition and redevelopment of the site 
with a greater number of units and a higher density form of development 
has been established through the grant of earlier planning permissions 
attached to the site; a fact to which some weight must be afforded.

9. The proposed development would result in two facing linear rows of 
variously designed dwellings centred on a central curved spine road that 
winds into the centre of the site from the access point from Bury Road.  
Whilst the development would be reasonably dense with close gaps 
between the buildings, the slightly staggered relationship and various 
architectural features utilised across the house types would break up the 
massing of built form somewhat and add visual interest.  

10.The provision of reasonably sized front garden areas and landscaping 
features such as trees and hedgerows would soften the overall 
appearance of the development.  That the majority of the protected trees 
would remain will screen the development from Bury Road, and it is 
noted that the closest dwelling to Bury Road would be formed with the 
side elevation closest to the boundary, thus reducing the potential 
pressure for a rear extension in the future which would be harmful to that 
street scene.

11.Highways and parking issues are discussed in greater detail below, but it 
is acknowledged that parking provision for the size and marketing 
intention of the dwellings is likely to lead to parked cars on street within 
the development, contrary to the requirements of the SPD.  However, 
given that the development would be centred on a private driveway layout 
and the visual impact would not be apparent from outside the site, this 
considered, on balance, to be acceptable in this particular location.

12.The proposed house types have undergone extensive revisions and 
substitutions to improve the elevational detailing and overall visual 
appearance, especially from the key vantage point from the driveway 
when entering the site.  Overall it is considered that the revisions to the 
dwellings have resulted in a good quality development which will not be 
out of character with the more recent developments in the area.  The use 
of red facing brick and grey concrete tils is considered to be acceptable in 
this location, and grey windows and detailing panels will add visual 
interest.

13.The position and materials detailing of the internal boundary treatments is 
broadly satisfactory and the use of a brick pier / timber panel wall 
softened by hedgerow planting along the side boundary of Plot 1 where it 
is visible from Bury Road is acceptable.  Full details will be required 
condition, including consideration of the treatment of the boundary fence 
separating the front and rear garden of Plot 7 where it meets the retaining 
wall alongside Bury Road within the area covered by TPO251a.

Page 62



14. It is noted that each dwelling will be provided with an accessible space 
within the private rear garden area to store waste bins but full details of 
the communal bin collection area should be secured through condition 
and it be required that installation takes place prior to first occupation of 
the dwellings to avoid an excessive amount of waste bins being left out 
on the pavement of Bury Road on collection day.  This is to ensure 
compliance with the SPD which requires that waste bins do not dominate 
the street scene.

15.The lower part of the south to the site will remain largely at the existing 
levels with the finished floor levels of the dwellings raised only marginally 
above.  The higher area on which the existing dwelling is sited would be 
reduced to provide roughly a 1m downward slope from north to south 
across the site.  This raises no substantive issues in respect of layout or 
visual appearance.

16.Therefore, subject to the suggested conditions, it is considered that the 
proposed development will represent a well-designed contemporary 
development of satisfactory design detailing, density in this location and 
layout and the application is therefore considered to accord with policies 
DM1, P3 and C3 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, the SPD and 
the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.  Amongst 
other things, these require developments to be sympathetic to local 
character and visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout 
and effective landscaping.

Impact on Surrounding Occupiers

17.The Council’s adopted Supplementary Planning Document ‘Guidelines 
and Standards for Residential Development’ (2016) contains a number of 
guidelines and requirements for the design and layout of new housing in 
order to preserve the amenity standards for surrounding residents. 
Included within the above document are the expected space standards for 
new residential development.

18.Within the site the proposed dwellings would accord with the required 
minimum separation distances, with at least 21m achieved between facing 
dwellings which is sufficient to provide an adequate level of privacy. The 
linear positioning of the dwellings would also result in the dwellings 
complying with all other standards contained within the SPD in relation to 
one another.  

19.A neighbour objection has been received in relation to the visually 
intrusive and dominant impact of the two storey side elevation of Plot 3 for 
the occupiers of Nos. 58 and 60 Camberley Drive.  It is noted, however, 
that in relation to the rear facing windows of these dwellings, the 
separation distance would be 35m in relation to No. 60 Camberley Drive 
and 31m at an angle in relation to No. 58 Camberley Drive.  This is 
significantly in excess of the 14m minimum separation distance required 
by the SPD.  No overshadowing of the rear garden areas of those 

Page 63



dwellings would occur due to the orientation of the site and the 4m 
separation distance from the vegetated boundary at the very rear of the 
lengthy gardens of those dwellings is sufficient not to result in an impact 
that could be reasonably be considered to be unduly overbearing.  On this 
basis, the impact of the proposed development on the amenities of Nos. 
58 and 60 Camberley Drive is considered to be acceptable.

20.The relationship outlined above would be near-identical in relation to Plot 
4 and the impact on Nos. 62 and 64 Camberley Drive, again resulting in 
an acceptable relationship with these dwellings.

21.The separation distance to the rear boundary from the rear facing 
habitable room windows of Plots 5 and 6 would be 10.9 and 10.7m 
respectively in respect of the main rear elevation.  However, the distance 
would be reduced by 1.4m to 9.5 and 9.3m in respect of the first floor 
habitable room window in the projecting gable features.  These latter 
distances would be below the minimum guideline separation distance of 
10.5m contained within the SPD, with Nos. 70 and 72 Camberley Drive 
affected as a result.  However it is noted that the tall trees growing along 
the boundary would be retained and the landscaping condition will require 
the retention of these trees for at least five years post development.  It is 
also noted that the rear garden area of No. 72 Camberley Drive is densely 
planted and does not constitute the main usable garden area at the point 
where the separation distance is at its lowest. Whilst the patio area of No. 
70 Camberley Drive is close to the boundary, the projecting gable window 
of Plot 7 would look more directly towards No. 72 due to the position of the 
dwelling, reducing the impact to what is considered to be an acceptable 
degree.  Boundary fencing and tree screening will continue to provide a 
suitable degree of privacy to offset the impact.

22.That the proposed dwellings having the greatest impact on surrounding 
properties would be constructed at the lowest existing natural ground level 
within the site will further reduce the overall impacts of the proposed 
development.

23.Representations received have correctly pointed out that the trees growing 
along the western boundary will overshadow the rear gardens and 
windows of Plots 4 and 5, with potential pressure from future occupiers to 
seek to remove at least some of the trees. Of the relevant trees, only T29 
is a category B tree and the remainder are category C.  Category C trees 
would not be worthy of protection by a Tree Preservation Order and the 
amenity value in terms of the wider area of T29 could not be considered 
significant owing to its position away from the public highway.  Whilst 
some future tree removal is to some extent unavoidable, given the 
locational context in which trees are a defining feature it would be unlikely 
that full loss would occur.

24. In terms of the separation distances between facing habitable room 
windows of Plots 4 and 5 and those of Nos. 70 and 72 Camberley Drive, 
distances of between 33m and 35m would be achieved which is 

Page 64



significantly in excess of the minimum separation distance required by the 
SPD.

25.The rear facing windows of Plots 6 and 7 would look towards the presently 
undeveloped land at Bunkers Hill at minimum distances of 9.4 and 10.7m 
respectively.  Such separation distances are unlikely to prejudice any 
future development of the site, which it is noted is covered by Tree 
Preservation Order TPO176, and would not result in undue amenity 
impacts at the present time.

26.A condition is recommended removing permitted development rights for  
two storey rear extensions  and enlargements to the roof of Plots 4 and 5, 
for example through dormer extensions, to protect the amenity of the 
occupiers of Nos. 70 and 72 Camberley Drive.

27.For the reasons outlined above, it is considered, on balance, that the 
proposed development would provide a satisfactory standard of 
residential amenity for the future occupiers of the development whilst 
adequately protecting the residential amenity of surrounding occupiers.  
On this basis, the application is considered to accord with Core Strategy 
policy DM1, the Supplementary Planning Document ‘Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development (2016) and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

    
Highways, Parking and Access

28.The site would be accessed via the existing access off Bury Road and 
whilst the proposal would result in an intensification of its use, the 
Council’s Highways Officer is satisfied that the access is suitable for a 
development of this nature.  It is not considered that the volume of traffic 
generated by the development will have a materially negative impact 
upon the surrounding highways network which could adequately 
accommodate vehicle movements associated with the development.  

29.The previous application (ref. 18/01199/FUL) was refused for reasons 
including that whilst the proposed access road included a turning head 
insufficient information was provided through a swept path analysis to 
demonstrate that is was of sufficient size to facilitate the manoeuvring 
and turning of a refuse vehicle.  It remains that this has not been provided 
within the re-submission but it has been confirmed that the road will not 
be adopted and will instead take the form of a private driveway.  An area 
for bins to be stored on collection days close to the adopted highway has 
been indicated on the submitted plans to allow ease of access for 
collection and ensure that an excessive number of bins are not 
concentrated on the pavement of Bury Road immediately outside the 
development.

30.The Council’s Highways Officer would generally expect that a 
development of this size be served by an adopted road. The highways 
officer initially noted that the proposed road was not designed to an 

Page 65



adoptable standard and vehicles may have difficulty passing on the 
curved section of the road, particularly if visitor’s cars are parked on the 
highway. A pedestrian safety risk was been identified by the lack of 
provision of suitable footways on either side of the carriageway.  

31.Revisions have been sought to the highway layout to secure level 
surfacing throughout which will encourage drivers to drive more carefully 
and adapt to the conditions. This is a small development proposal and 
providing an adoptable highway with a 5.5m carriageway and 2m 
footways either side would alter the character of the development 
significantly. The highways officer has confirmed that providing the road 
will not be adopted, they have no objection to the proposal. 

32. It is noted that the applicant has demonstrated that at least 2 dedicated 
parking spaces are to be provided for each dwelling. The proposed 
garages are not of a sufficient width to be counted as parking spaces as 
the SPD requires a minimum width of 3.5m for internal parking spaces.  
Plot 7 could easily accommodate three vehicles, which exceeds the 
maximum standard contained within Appendix 5 of the Core Strategy but 
it is acknowledged the Paragraph 106 of the revised NPPF has amended 
the guidance in relation to the imposition of maximum parking standards.  
Given the lack of any reasonably sited additional on-street parking in the 
immediate vicinity, and the high likelihood of residents of the proposed 
dwellings owning more than one car per household it would be 
considered of benefit to the scheme to include more parking; not less.  
On this basis, the proposed parking numbers are considered to be 
acceptable.

33.On this basis, it is considered that the access and parking impacts of the 
development are acceptable and the application duly accords with Core 
Strategy policies DM1 and T2 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Impact on Trees

34.Policy G6 of the adopted Core Strategy expects development proposals 
affecting green infrastructure to avoid the loss of existing features such 
as trees unless suitable alternative provision is made or they have limited 
value.  Trees that are removed should be replaced at a ratio of 2:1 to 
mitigate for the loss of their amenity value and environmental benefits.  
Core Strategy Policy G7 (Increasing the value of biodiversity and 
geodiversity) states that the Council will ensure that features of 
biodiversity and geodiversity importance are given full and appropriate 
recognition and protection, and no development should result in a net 
loss of biodiversity or geodiversity interest.  

35.The northern boundary of the site is subject to Tree Preservation Order 
251a, as shown on the below map excerpt, comprising mixed trees of 
Sycamore, Lime and Beech. The trees along the western boundary in 
adjoining land are also protected.

Page 66



36.The proposal seeks to retain all trees that are protected by Tree 
Preservation Order 251a, with the exception of T17 (Sycamore) which is 
to be removed for arboricultural reasons. T1 (Holly) which is growing 
adjacent to the site entrance is not covered in the TPO schedule and 
would be removed.  An addition twelve individual trees and five groups 
would also be removed from within the site and around the perimeter.  The 
Council’s arboricultural advisor is satisfied that the proposed tree removals 
are acceptable and welcomes the retention of the near-entire group of 
trees that are protected. Replacement planting should be required by 
condition to result in a net increase in tree coverage across the site as a 
whole. The main concern raised by the Council’s advisor relates to the 
position of paved bin storage areas within the Root Protection Areas of 
retained trees.  The details of no-dig construction in those areas, including 
the communal bin storage area, can be secured through condition.

37.Therefore, subject to a satisfactory detailed landscaping scheme that 
includes replacement planting at a 2:1 ratio or the inclusion of native 
hedgerow planting at a level suitable to compensate for the loss of trees, 
the proposal is considered to be satisfactory in respect or arboricultural 
impacts and compliant with Core Strategy policy G6 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

Ecology and Biodiversity Impacts

38.Core Strategy Policy G7 (Increasing the value of biodiversity and 
geodiversity) states that the Council will ensure that features of 
biodiversity and geodiversity importance are given full and appropriate 
recognition and protection, and no development should result in a net 
loss of biodiversity or geodiversity interest.  Paragraph 175 of the NPPF 
states that when determining applications, Local Planning Authorities 
should apply a number of principles, including that if significant harm to 
biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through 
locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately 
mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission 
should be refused.  

39.Consultation has been undertaken with the Greater Manchester Ecology 
Unit (GMEU) which has noted that no significant ecological issues were 
identified by the developer’s ecological consultant.   However, to the east 
of the site lies the northern extent of the Meadowcroft Woods Site of 
Biological Importance, designated Grade A, and GMEU states that 
measures to protect the woods during construction would require 
conditions.  A further condition requiring clarification on the proposed 
surface water run-off strategy post-construction is also recommended to 
prevent run-off into the SBI, as any temporary negative impacts would 
also require mitigation. 

40. In respect of protected species, the building was assessed as having 
negligible bat roosting potential in 2018, but following comments by the 

Page 67



GMEU an emergence survey was also carried out in May 2019, when no 
evidence of roosting activity was found.   On this basis, GMEU now have 
no reason to doubt the findings of the report based on the level of survey, 
thus overcoming the previous refusal reason in respect of this matter.  
However, as bats can turn up in unexpected locations and the high risk 
location of the property an informative is recommended advising that 
under the Habitat Regulation it is an offence to disturb, harm or kill bats.  
If a bat is found during demolition all work should cease immediately and 
a suitably licensed bat worker employed to assess how best to safeguard 
the bat(s).  

41.The development site has significant bird nesting potential both within 
outbuildings and within the garden landscape.  A condition requiring that 
no clearance or works to trees and shrubs or demolition should take 
place between the 1st March and 31st August in any year unless further 
survey work was carried out could be applied to safeguard protected bird 
nests and eggs. Bat and bird boxes are further recommend to mitigate for 
loss of bird nesting habitat, the details of which should be required by 
condition.  

 
42.Monbretia and Rhododendron were identified on the site.  Species such 

as Monbretia and Rhododendron Ponticum are included within this 
schedule 9 part 2 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, though it is 
possible that the Rhododendrons on site are not the wild type i.e. 
ornamental varieties.  To ensure no offence is committed through 
movement of these species off-site in to a semi-natural location it is 
recommended that a method statement detailing control measures for 
Monbretia and Rhododendron should be required by condition.

43. In summary, no significant ecological issues have been identified and 
ecological issues relating to bats, nesting birds, invasive species, 
proximity to Meadowcroft Wood SBI and net gain can be resolved via 
condition and or informative.  Therefore, subject to the suggested 
conditions and informatives the requirements of Core Strategy policy G7 
and the National Planning Policy Framework in respect of preventing or 
mitigating harm to a protected species or its habitat will have been met.

Drainage and Flood Risk

44.Policy G8 of the Core Strategy sets out the Council’s strategy for 
managing water resources and flood risk more effectively in the interests 
of public safety, protecting property and infrastructure and the 
conservation of the natural environment.  The NPPF also establishes that 
inappropriate development in areas at risk at flooding should be avoided 
and that when determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere.

45.The site falls within Flood Zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding 
(less than 1 in 1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in 
any year).  The site is therefore suitable for residential development in 

Page 68



this respect, subject to appropriate wastewater and surface water 
disposal to reduce the risks of flooding or aquatic pollution elsewhere.  

46.Full details of the proposed drainage scheme have not been provided 
with the application and would therefore need to be secured through 
condition.  However, a detailed consultation response from United 
Utilities sets out a number of requirements in relation to foul and surface 
water separation and drainage of surface water in the most sustainable 
way in accordance with the NPPG hierarchy.

47.Therefore, subject to an acceptable drainage scheme being submitted to 
and approved by the LPA as required by a suitable condition, the 
requirements of Policy G8 of the Core Strategy and the requirements of 
the National Planning Policy Framework would have been met.

Land Contamination

48.Core Strategy Policy G9 states that the Council will ensure that any risks 
arising from contaminated land or land instability are identified, and that 
any appropriate actions to address these risks are taken, prior to 
development taking place.

49.Consultation has been carried out with the Council’s Public Protection 
Officer and a condition is recommended to ensure contamination is 
identified and remediated where necessary to accord with the 
requirements of Policy G9 of the Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework in relation to land contamination. 

Coal Mining Risk

50.The application site falls within the defined Development High Risk Area; 
therefore within the application site and surrounding area there are coal 
mining features and hazards which need to be considered in relation to 
the determination of this planning application.  

51.The Coal Authority records indicate likely unrecorded coal mining at 
shallow depth beneath the application site.  However, the part of the site 
where the development is proposed lies outside of the defined High Risk 
Area.  On this basis the Coal Authority does not consider that a Coal 
Mining Risk Assessment is necessary to support the proposal has not 
raised any objections to the proposed development subject to the 
imposition of an informative advising that the proposed development lies 
within a coal mining area which may contain unrecorded coal mining 
related hazards and that if any coal mining feature is encountered during 
development, this should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority.

52.On this basis, subject to the above advisory note, it is considered that the 
proposed development is acceptable in respect of coal mining risk and 
the requirements of Core Strategy policy G9 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework will have been satisfied.

Page 69



Conclusion

53.Core Strategy policy C3 seeks to improve the supply of larger and higher 
value housing in the Borough. Policy C1 states that the development of 
greenfield sites within the urban area should have a limited adverse 
impact on green infrastructure or amenity value in and around the site and 
that green infrastructure is, wherever possible, incorporated into the 
scheme. 

54.The proposed development would provide seven large detached 
dwellings, resulting in a net increase of six, therefore contributing to the 
supply of larger and higher value housing within the Borough.  The 
scheme for consideration has been extensively amended over the original 
submission (ref. 18/01199/FUL) to provide dwellings of a contemporary 
and good quality design in an appropriate layout, minimise the impact on 
the trees lining Bury Road protected by Tree Preservation Order 251a, 
and minimise the amenity impacts for surrounding occupiers.  
Environmental impacts, including on the adjacent SBI and protected and 
invasive species can be satisfactorily mitigated or controlled through 
condition.

55.On this basis the application is considered to be acceptable in matters of 
principle and detail and the application duly accords with the relevant 
policies contained within the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, the saved 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves to 
GRANT planning permission subject to the following conditions:

1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning 
with the date of this permission.

Reason. Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

2. This permission relates to the following plans:- 

- Location Plan
- Topographical Survey including Buildings to be Demolished
- Proposed Site Layout – SK9, Drawing No. 1253/SK9-001 Rev. H 

(Amended Plan Received 30.09.19)
- Proposed Site Layout – Roof Plan, Drawing No. 1253/SK9-002 Rev. A 

(Amended Plan Received 30.09.19)
- Proposed Site Layout – Curtilage Plan, Drawing No. 1253/-CT Rev. A 

(Amended Plan Received 30.09.19

Page 70



- House Type A – Plans and Elevations, Drawing No. 1253/101 Rev. G 
(Amended Plan Received 27.09.19)

- House Type A2 – Plans and Elevations, Drawing No. 1253/107 Rev. 
B (Amended Plan Received 27.09.19)

- House Type C1 – Plans and Elevations, Drawing No. 1253/105 Rev. 
B (Amended Plan Received 27.09.19)

- Tree Protection Plan, Drawing No. UG_11933_ARB_TPP_01 Rev. 
P02

and the development shall be carried out in accordance with these 
drawings hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory 
standard of development in accordance with the policies contained within 
the Core Strategy, the Unitary Development Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

3. No development shall take place until an investigation and risk 
assessment (in addition to any assessment provided with the planning 
application) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The assessment shall investigate the nature and 
extent of any contamination on the site (whether or not it originates on the 
site). The assessment shall be undertaken by competent persons and a 
written report of the findings submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority before any development takes place. 

The submitted report shall include:

i)  a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination
ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:

 human health,
 property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, 

livestock, pets, woodland, and service lines and pipes
 adjoining land,             
 groundwaters and surface waters,
 ecological systems,
 archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of 
remedial options and proposal of the preferred option(s) to form a 
remediation strategy for the site.

The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
duly approved remediation strategy and a verification report submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any of the 
building(s) hereby approved are first occupied. 

Reason: To prevent pollution of the environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers 
in accordance with Policies G8 and G9 of the Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 71



Reason for pre-commencement condition: Further investigation will be 
necessary prior to commencement of any building or engineering works 
on site.

                        
4. No development shall take place (including any demolition) until a 

Construction Method Statement (CMS), has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which shall include 
the following:
a. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
b. loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
c. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 

development; 
d. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding;
e. measures for the protection of the natural environment from 

accidental spillages, dust and debris including dedicated protection 
measures (including high visibility fencing) for the protection of the 
adjacent SBI of Meadowcroft Woods both during and after 
construction;

f. a lighting plan designed to direct any temporary lighting away from 
the SBI of Meadowcroft Woods; and

h. hours of construction, including deliveries (which should not take 
place outside of the hours of 08:00-18:00 Monday to Friday and 
09:00-14:00 Saturday, with no work taking place on Sundays or 
Bank Holidays).

 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
CMS. 

Reason: To minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring amenities, 
the amenities of the area in general, detriment to the natural environment 
through the risks of pollution and dangers to highway safety, during the 
construction phase in accordance with Policies DM1, T2, G7, G8 and G9 
of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require 
ground works and engineering works an understanding will therefore be 
necessary of what measures will be put in place to protect the amenity of 
nearby residents and the SBI prior to commencement of any building or 
engineering works on site.

5. Notwithstanding any detail shown on the approved plans or provided with 
the application submission, no development shall take place until a 
scheme for the discharge of foul and surface water from the site 
(including surface water from the site access road and parking areas), 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The surface water drainage scheme shall be based on the 
hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance, 
shall be accompanied by evidence of an assessment of the site 

Page 72



conditions and shall accord with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards 
for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent 
replacement national standards. Details of how the drainage scheme will 
be maintained and managed after completion shall be provided. The duly 
approved scheme shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the 
development hereby permitted and retained as such thereafter

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the 
development and to ensure satisfactory disposal of surface water from 
the site in accordance with Policy G8 of the adopted Rochdale Core 
Strategy, policy EM/7 of the saved Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Reason for pre-commencement condition: No drainage information has 
been submitted. Drainage infrastructure will need to be implemented prior 
to commencement of above ground works and a scheme therefore needs 
to be agreed in advance of the same.

6. No development or works of site preparation shall take place until all 
trees that are to be retained within or adjacent to the site have been 
enclosed with temporary protective fencing in accordance with 
BS:5837:2012 'Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction. 
Recommendations'. The fencing shall be retained throughout the period 
of construction and no activity prohibited by BS:5837:2012 shall take 
place within such protective fencing during the construction period.  The 
Arboricultural Method Statement hereby approved by Urban Green dated 
23.05.19 shall be adhered to at all times.
                        
Reason: In order to protect the existing trees on the site in the interests of 
the amenities of the area and in accordance with Policies P3, G6 and G7 
of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.    

Reason for pre-commencement condition: Protection measures for 
retained trees are required to be in place prior to commencement of any 
works on site to ensure no damage is caused.

7. No development or works of site preparation shall take place until a 
detailed method statement for the removal or long-term 
management/eradication of Monbretia and Rhododendron Ponticum on 
the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The method statement shall include measures to 
prevent the spread of Monbretia and Rhododendron Ponticum during any 
operations such as mowing, strimming or soil movement, and measures 
to ensure that any soils brought to the site are free of the 
seeds/roots/stems of any invasive plant covered under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved method statement.  

                        

Page 73



Reason: In accordance with policy G7 of the adopted Rochdale Core 
Strategy and to ensure the satisfactory treatment and disposal of invasive 
plant species which, under the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended) it is an offence to be caused to be spread in the wild.

                        
Reason for pre-commencement condition: Construction activity increases 
the risk of invasive species spreading.

8. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no above 
ground construction works shall take place until samples and / or full 
specifications of materials to be used externally on the buildings have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of the 
materials. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of 
visual amenity in accordance with Policy P3 of the Core Strategy and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

9. No above ground works shall take place until a scheme of biodiversity 
enhancements for the site including, but not limited to, bird boxes, bat 
bricks and bat boxes to be integrated to the fabric of the buildings and 
elsewhere within the site has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The duly approved scheme shall be 
implemented in full prior to first occupation of the dwellings and retained 
thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of enhancing biodiversity and habitat provision 
within the site in accordance with Policy G7 of the adopted Rochdale 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

10. No clearance of trees and shrubs or demolition of the existing buildings 
on site in preparation for (or during the course of) development shall take 
place during the bird nesting season (March - August inclusive) unless an 
ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority to establish whether the site is utilised for bird 
nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, 
then no development shall take place during the period specified above 
unless a mitigation strategy has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in 
accordance with policy G7 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

12.No part of the development shall be occupied until a detailed specification 
for the design and construction of the associated parking areas and site 
access, including detail of the surface water drainage strategy, surfacing 

Page 74



materials, lighting strategy and a scheme for tactile paving and dropped 
kerbs at the site access point, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The access and parking areas 
shown on the approved plans shall be shall be constructed in accordance 
with the duly approved details before the associated buildings are first 
occupied, and shall be retained thereafter for their intended purpose.

Reason: In order that there is adequate provision for vehicles to be 
parked clear of the highway in the interests of highway safety and the 
free flow of traffic and to ensure the suitable disposal of surface water in 
order to comply with the requirements of policies T2, DM1 and G8 of the 
adopted Rochdale Core Strategy.

13. (a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, the 
development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until full details of 
both hard and soft landscaping works have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall 
include the formation of any banks, terraces or other earthworks, hard 
surfaced areas and materials, planting plans, specifications and 
schedules (including planting size, species and numbers/densities), 
existing plants / trees to be retained and a scheme for the timing / 
phasing of implementation works.

(b) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved scheme for timing / phasing of implementation or within the 
next planting season following final occupation of the development 
hereby permitted, whichever is the sooner.

(c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this 
condition which are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become 
severely damaged or become seriously diseased within 5 years of 
planting shall be replaced within the next planting season by trees or 
shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to be 
planted.

Reason:  To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having 
regard to its location and the nature of the proposed development and in 
accordance with policies P3, DM1 and G7 of the adopted Rochdale Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

14.Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved Proposed Site Plan 
ref. 1253/SK9-001 Rev. H (Amended Plan Received 30.09.19) and the 
requirements of condition 2 of this permission, the dwellings hereby 
approved shall not be occupied until such time as a detailed design for 
the construction of waste/recycling storage areas have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, the design shall include full details of no-dig 
construction methods where the bin storage areas are within the root 
protection areas of retained trees.  The duly approved facilities shall be 

Page 75



provided and made available for use before the first occupation of any 
dwelling and retained as such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory facilities for the storage of 
refuse and in the interests of visual amenity and in the interests of 
safeguarding the root systems of retained trees in accordance with the 
Supplementary Planning Document ‘Guidelines and Standards for 
Residential Development’ (2016), policies DM1, P3 and G6 of the 
Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

15.Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any 
equivalent Order following the amendment, re-enactment or revocation 
thereof) prior to first occupation of Plot 3 hereby permitted the window in 
the first floor side elevation facing south shall be fitted with, to a height of 
no less than 1.7m above finished floor level, non-opening lights and 
textured glass which obscuration level is no less than Level 3 of the 
Pilkington Glass scale (or equivalent) and retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In the interest of amenity and in compliance with policy DM1 of 
the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

16.Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), 
or any equivalent Order following the revocation and re-enactment 
thereof, the dwellings hereby approved at Plots 3 and 4 shall not be 
altered or extended, under Schedule 2, Part 1 Class A of the above 
order, insofar as it relates to windows in the side elevations facing south, 
unless planning permission has been granted for such works on 
application to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of amenity and in compliance with policy DM1 of 
the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

17.Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), 
or any equivalent Order following the revocation and re-enactment 
thereof, the dwellings hereby approved at Plots 4 and 5 shall not be 
altered or extended, under Schedule 2, Part 1 Class A of the above 
order, insofar as it relates to permitted development rights for two storey 
rear extensions, unless planning permission has been granted for such 
works on application to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of amenity and in compliance with policy DM1 of 
the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Page 76



18.Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), 
or any equivalent Order following the revocation and re-enactment 
thereof, the dwellings hereby approved at Plots 4 and 5 shall not be 
altered or extended, under Schedule 2, Part 1 Class B, of the above 
Order unless planning permission has been granted for such works on 
application to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of amenity and in compliance with policy DM1 of 
the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Page 77



Page 1 of 13

Planning and Licensing Committee 
Update Report – 9th October 2019

AGENDA ITEM 6(a) – 19/00454/AM – Land off Starring Road, Littleborough - Section 
73 application for minor material amendment to planning application 15/00996/FUL 
relating to alterations to boundary treatments, finished floor levels, ridge heights and 
landscaping

ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS

An additional objection letter has been received requesting that the slab level of plot 4 
be reduced to the ‘as approved’ level, noting that plot 5 had already been lowered, 
taking approximately one day.

In response, the applicant has advised that:
 The extent of masonry currently visible at the corner of plot 4 does not represent 

the level around the whole plot, the foundations were stepped, deeper at the 
back, shallower at the front. So whilst it may appear that 3-4 courses could be 
removed of the section visible this would mean that the current foundations 
would not have enough cover at the front of the property. The current proposal, 
removal of the course of stone and the block laid flat represents the maximum 
possible reduction without compromising the foundations. 

 There is also a water main running within the site along the side boundary of 
plot 4, which serves properties beyond the site. This main appears to be 
unrecorded by U.U. this matter is ongoing. If the slab level of this plot was to be 
reduced further the main would be too close to the final ground level to achieve 
adequate cover. 

CONDITIONS UPDATE

Amendments are recommended to condition 5 (referring to boundary treatments), and 
condition 10 (drainage scheme details). Condition 5 is amended to include a 
requirement that the drystone wall shall be constructed in the approved position to 
match existing details. Condition 10 is amended in acknowledgment that the drainage 
details (with an enlarged attenuation tank) have been agreed by the Council’s 
Drainage Engineer.

5 All boundary treatments shall be as specified on the Site Layout (dwg.no. 
H407/001/G). The approved walls/fences shall be erected before each 
dwelling hereby approved is first occupied and shall thereafter be retained. 
For the avoidance of doubt, the drystone walls shall be constructed in the 
approved position, with the stone type, style, topping and dimensions to 
match the full height sections of walling on the opposite side of Starring 
Lane.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance and in the interests 
of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties in 
accordance with Core Strategy policy P3 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Page 78



Page 2 of 13

10 No part of the development shall be occupied until the scheme for foul and 
surface water disposal has been implemented in accordance with the 
approved drainage scheme (dwg.no. dwg-tjba-hoyle-starring rd, lboro-
140818.dwg rev p2), which shall be maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved details thereafter.

Reason: To ensure the appropriate disposal of surface and foul water and 
to manage the risks of flooding and pollution in accordance with Core 
Strategy policy G8, saved UDP policies EM/7 and EM/8 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

AGENDA ITEM 6(b) – 19/00826/AM – Dingle Farm, Hollin Lane, Middleton, M24 6XW 
– Section 73 application for amendments to planning permission 18/00354/FUL 
comprising layout changes; amendments to bungalows and community hub; removal 
of farm building and energy centre; addition of swale SUDs feature; and submission 
of additional detail pertaining to conditions

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Additional consultation responses have been received, as follows:

Drainage & Flooding Engineer – Summary – 

The updated Foul & Surface Water Drainage Layout (ref. 217/050/020 rev P2) shows 
that the applicant will install a foul pumping station, to deliver foul flows to public sewer 
on Hollin lane. The Drainage Officer accepts this arrangement, because this is in 
accordance with UK Government General Binding Rules (for sewerage).

Clarifications Required – Surface Water Drainage Proposals
The final headwall location requires final agreement with the Landowner. The headwall 
should be located to the downstream side of the public footpath rather than spilling 
directly onto the footpath. This is a minor matter can be dealt with by forwarding a plan 
in due course. The Drainage Officer will want to see calculations, or (ideally) the 
MicroDrainage file to review the detailed proposals.

As the surface water details are nearly complete, I see no need for a pre-
commencement Drainage Condition. I request a Condition that requires the Applicant 
to submit Drainage Calculations, in MicroDrainage format or otherwise. The Drainage 
Officer accepts the foul drainage proposal shown on the drawing ref. listed above.

Environment Agency – 

We have no objection in principle to the proposed development, but would wish to 
make the following comments.

We have reviewed the [submitted Phase I, II and III reports] with respect to potential 
risks to controlled waters from land contamination.

Page 79



Page 3 of 13

The presence of above ground tanks on the proposed development site presents a 
Medium Risk of contamination that could be mobilised during construction to pollute 
controlled waters. Controlled waters are particularly sensitive in this area since the site 
is located on both Secondary (Undifferentiated) and secondary A aquifers. It is known 
that a well was formerly used on site obtaining water from the secondary 
(Undifferentiated deposits)

The reports detailed above submitted in support of this planning application provide 
us with confidence that it will be possible to suitably manage the risk posed to 
controlled waters by this development.  However, further detailed information will be 
required before built development is undertaken.  It is our opinion that it would place 
an unreasonable burden on the developer to ask for more detailed information prior to 
the granting of planning permission but respect that this is a decision for the local 
planning authority.
 
In light of the above, the proposed development will be acceptable if the following 
planning conditions are included within any planning permission granted for the site to 
ensure that any unacceptable risks from contamination are adequately addressed and 
mitigated during the re-development of the site.  Without these conditions, the 
proposed development on this site poses an unacceptable risk to the environment.

We ask to be consulted on the details submitted for approval to your Authority to 
discharge these conditions and on any subsequent amendments/alterations and ask 
that our comments below under ‘Advice to Applicant’ are provided to the developer / 
consultant.
 
Condition
Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied a verification report 
demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved remediation strategy 
and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to, and approved in writing, 
by the local planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling and 
monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to 
demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met.

Reason
To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health or the water 
environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification plan 
have been met and that remediation of the site is complete. This is in line with 
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

[Advisory notes provided on waste on site and waste to be taken off-site]
 
Advice to applicant
We do have concerns regarding the presence of free phase product and dissolved 
phase hydrocarbons in the boreholes around WS03A. The further investigation 
proposed in the remediation strategy to identify and remove any soils or groundwater 
which is grossly contaminated by hydrocarbon contamination. We are in agreement 
that the contamination has likely arisen from the above ground tanks which are to be 
removed. We would expect that a suitably qualified environmental scientist should be 
on site during these excavations and that the validation report will include documentary 

Page 80



Page 4 of 13

evidence of the removal of tanks and the grubbing out of foundations as well as the 
further excavations to delineate the contaminated soils/groundwater. We look forward 
to receiving the validation report prior to construction works taking place on the site.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit – Summary - 

Confirm satisfaction with the amendments to the enhancement plan. Whilst planting 
details are still not provided, this is covered by condition 18, with no specific 
requirement within condition 16. No objection to this document being condition as part 
of the amended permission.

Confirm satisfaction with the proposed method statement which can be conditioned. 
In respect of the telegraph pole – they may need to excavate as close as possible and 
spray the remainder.

ANALYSIS

Site Investigation (Condition 4)

The Phase I, II and III Site Investigation reports submitted have been reviewed by the 
Environment Agency. They have raised no objection to approval of the remediation 
strategy set out within the Phase III report, subject to a condition requiring submission 
of a validation or completion report demonstrating the completion of remediation works 
and the effectiveness of the same. An appropriate condition is duly recommended 
below.

Drainage (Condition 6)

A revised drainage scheme has been submitted to the LPA; the scheme includes for 
the provision of a foul water pumping station within the site as an alternative to 
provision of a package sewage treatment plan, which would discharge to the existing 
sewer on Hollin Lane, to comply with EA requirements. The foul water drainage 
scheme has been reviewed by the Council’s Drainage and Flooding Engineer, who 
has raised no objection to the proposals. In respect of surface water drainage, the 
location of a discharge point from the detention point remains under review and further 
detailed calculations are required to be submitted to the LPA before the drainage 
design can be finally approved. A condition, requiring submission of detail prior to 
implementation of the drainage scheme, is recommended below.

Invasive Plant Species (Condition 8)

A revised method statement for the treatment/eradication of Himalayan Balsam and 
Japanese Knotweed has been submitted; the statement has been subject of 
consultation with the Ecology Unit which has confirmed that the detail is satisfactory. 
A condition requiring implementation of the proposed measures is recommended 
below.

Finished Floor Levels (Condition 9)

Page 81



Page 5 of 13

A revised site plan, including detail of the proposed finished floor level for the hub, has 
been submitted to the LPA. The detail is acceptable and a condition requiring that the 
development is undertaken in accordance with the approved levels information is 
included below.

Biodiversity Enhancement (Condition 16)

A revised package of biodiversity/ecological compensation, enhancement and 
mitigation measures was submitted, further to the comments previously received from 
the Ecology Unit. GMEU has subsequently reviewed the revised measures and 
considers them suitable; accordingly a condition is recommended below requiring 
implementation of the same.

Travel Plan (Condition 20)

A revised, corrected Travel Plan (TP) document remains outstanding. Accordingly, it 
is recommended that the original condition, requiring submission of a TP prior to first 
occupation, is retained on the new permission.

RECOMMENDATION

In line with the recommendation in the Agenda Report, a schedule of recommended 
conditions is set out below:

1 The development must be begun not later than 27th July 2021.

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2 This permission relates to the following plans:- 

- Location Plan drawing no. 2428-OS.01 rev. A
- Site Layout drawing no. 2428.T.006 rev. A
- Block A Plan & Roof Plan drawing no. 2428.T.098
- Block B – GA Plans drawing no. 2428.T.010 rev. B
- Block C – GA Plans drawing no. 2428.T.011 rev. B
- Block D – GA Plans drawing no. 2428.T.012 rev. B
- Block E – GA Plans drawing no. 2428.T.013 rev. B
- Block F – GA Plans drawing no. 2428.T.014 rev. B
- Block G – GA Plans drawing no. 2428.T.015 rev. C
- Block A Elevations drawing no. 2428.T.099
- Block B Elevations drawing no. 2428.T.025 rev. A
- Blocks C, D & F Elevations drawing no. 2428.T.026 rev. A
- Block E Elevations drawing no. 2428.T.025.5
- Block G Elevations drawing no. 2428.T.027 rev. A
- Window Details Blocks B-D drawing no. 2428.T.040 rev. A
- Window Details Blocks E-G drawing no. 2428.T.040.5 rev. A
- Large Bin Store Plans and Elevations drawing no. 2428.T.093
- Arboricultural Impact Assessment Sheet 1 of 2 drawing no. 2890 103 rev. B
- Arboricultural Impact Assessment Sheet 2 of 2 drawing no. 2890 104 rev. B

Page 82



Page 6 of 13

- S278 Proposed Site Access General Arrangement drawing no. 982-001 rev. 
A

- S278 Proposed Site Access S78 Boundary and Utilities Layout drawing no. 
982-002 rev. A

- S278 Proposed Site Access Site Clearance drawing no. 982-003 rev. A
- S278 Proposed Site Access Vehicle Tracking and Visibility Splay drawing 

no. 982-004 rev. A
- S278 Proposed Site Access Drainage Layout drawing no. 982-005 rev. A
- S278 Proposed Site Access Pavement Layout drawing no. 982-006 rev. A
- S278 Proposed Site Access Kerbs and Footways drawing no. 982-007 rev. 

A
- S278 Proposed Site Access Road Markings and Traffic Signs Layout 

drawing no. 982-008 rev. A
- S278 Proposed Site Access Design Sections drawing no. 982-009 rev. A
- S278 Proposed Site Access Standard Details drawing no. 982-010 rev. A
- S278 Proposed Site Access Setting Out Layout drawing no. 982-011 rev. A

and the development shall be carried out in accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted 
Rochdale Core Strategy, the saved Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

3 The construction period for the development hereby approved shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the submitted Construction Method Statement 
(by PLP Construction, received 11/09/2019) and the accompanying ‘Dingle 
Farm Construction Phase Site Layout’ plan (dated 5/9/2019).

Reason: To minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring amenities, the 
amenities of the area in general, detriment to the natural environment through 
the risks of pollution and dangers to highway safety, during the construction 
phase in accordance with Policies DM1, P3, T2, G8 and G9 of the emerging 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

4 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Phase 3 
Remediation Statement (G7 Geotech Ltd. ref. 1161D: Rev 0a dated 30th April 
2019). No part of the development shall be occupied until such time as a 
verification report containing a summary of and a demonstration of the 
effectiveness of the remediation works carried out has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Policies G9 and DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, 
Policy EM/8 of the Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Page 83



Page 7 of 13

5 Works of demolition shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
recommendations for appraisal & recording, watching brief and trial trenching, 
as set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) (by CgMs ref. 
EM/JAC24763). 

No part of the development shall be occupied until the archaeological site 
investigation and reporting has been completed in accordance with the 
approved WSI and a report confirming the same has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To protect the significance of any archaeological remains on the site 
in accordance with Policy P2 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

6 No works for the installation of drainage infrastructure, including construction of 
the approved detention pond, shall be undertaken until such time as a 
comprehensive scheme for the collection and discharge of surface and foul 
water from the site, including from the site access road, hardstanding and 
parking areas, including:

 Detailed surface water drainage calculations or a MicroDrainage model;
 Comprehensive detail of the proposed detention pond, including 

sectional drawings;
 Detail and specification of a replacement culvert;
 Detail and specification of the proposed foul water pumping station (as 

shown on plan ref. 2428.T.006 rev. A);
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The duly approved drainage scheme shall be implemented in full prior to first 
occupation of the development hereby permitted and retained & maintained as 
such thereafter.

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development 
and to ensure satisfactory disposal of surface water from the site in accordance 
with Policy G8 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, saved Policy EM/7 of 
the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

7 The access to the site from Hollin Lane shall be constructed in accordance with 
the comprehensive scheme, as detailed on the following plans:

- S278 Proposed Site Access General Arrangement drawing no. 982-001 
rev. A

- S278 Proposed Site Access S78 Boundary and Utilities Layout drawing 
no. 982-002 rev. A

- S278 Proposed Site Access Site Clearance drawing no. 982-003 rev. A
- S278 Proposed Site Access Vehicle Tracking and Visibility Splay 

drawing no. 982-004 rev. A
- S278 Proposed Site Access Drainage Layout drawing no. 982-005 rev. 

A
- S278 Proposed Site Access Pavement Layout drawing no. 982-006 rev. 

A

Page 84



Page 8 of 13

- S278 Proposed Site Access Kerbs and Footways drawing no. 982-007 
rev. A

- S278 Proposed Site Access Road Markings and Traffic Signs Layout 
drawing no. 982-008 rev. A

- S278 Proposed Site Access Design Sections drawing no. 982-009 rev. 
A

- S278 Proposed Site Access Standard Details drawing no. 982-010 rev. 
A

- S278 Proposed Site Access Setting Out Layout drawing no. 982-011 rev. 
A

The access shall be completed in accordance with the approved scheme prior 
to first occupation of the development.  

Reason: In order to provide safe, secure access to the development in the 
interests of highway safety, and ensure continued function of the surrounding 
highway network, in accordance with Policies T2 and DM1 of the adopted 
Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

8 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the ‘Proposal to 
Control Himalayan Balsam and eradicate Japanese Knotweed’ by Eco Control 
Solutions (ref. 12850 dated 7th October 2019); the measures contained therein 
shall be fully implemented prior to commencement of above ground 
construction works. 

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory treatment and disposal of invasive plant 
species which, under the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) it is an offence to be caused to be spread, and in accordance with  
the provisions of Policy G7 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

9 The development shall be constructed in accordance with the proposed 
Finished Floor Level details as set out on the approved site layout plan ref. 
2428.T.006 rev. A. 

Reason: In the interests of amenity and in compliance with Policies P3 and DM1 
of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework

10 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the provisions of the 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement (TPM 
Landscape ref. 2890 103 rev. B and ref. 2890 104 rev. B). No development or 
works of site preparation shall take place until all trees that are to be retained 
within or adjacent to the site have been enclosed with temporary protective 
fencing in accordance with BS:5837:2012 'Trees in relation to design, 
demolition and construction. Recommendations'. The fencing shall be retained 
throughout the period of construction and no activity prohibited by 
BS:5837:2012 shall take place within such protective fencing during the 
construction period.

Page 85



Page 9 of 13

Reason: In order to protect the existing trees on the site in the interests of the 
amenities of the area and in accordance with Policies P3, G6 and G7 of the 
adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

11 Development shall be carried out in accordance with the provisions of the 
approved Badger Reasonable Avoidance Measures Method Statement (by 
Verity Webster); the method statement shall be adhered to for the duration of 
works on site.

Reason: In order to ensure the conservation of protected species in accordance 
with Policy G7 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

12 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for (or during the course of) 
development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March - August 
inclusive) unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority to establish whether the site is utilised 
for bird nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, 
then no development shall take place during the period specified above unless 
a mitigation strategy has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority which provides for the protection of nesting birds 
during the period of works on site.

Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in 
accordance with policy G7 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

13 Notwithstanding the provisions of conditions 10 and 12 of this permission, 
clearance of trees on site shall be carried out in accordance with the 
precautionary methods of work as detailed in Section 8 of the submitted Bat 
Survey Report: Presence/Absence Survey (dated June 2018). 

In the event that demolition of the existing buildings and clearance of trees is 
not undertaken and completed prior to 30th April 2020, no further demolition or 
clearance shall be undertaken until such time as an updated bat survey has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. If 
any bats are found to either reside or forage within the site, no development 
shall take place until an appropriate mitigation scheme has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the duly approved 
protection/mitigation measures thereafter fully implemented. Approval of survey 
results shall be valid for a period of two years following issuance of written 
confirmation by the Local Planning Authority; should demolition and clearance 
of trees not commence within this time period no development (including any 
demolition or tree clearance) shall take place until such time as the 
requirements of the condition have been re-satisfied.

Reason: In order to prevent potential habitat disturbance in accordance with 
Policy G7 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

Page 86



Page 10 of 13

14 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted External 
Finishes Schedule ref. 2428 and shall be retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity in accordance with Policy P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy 
and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

15 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements 
of condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works to ‘Block A’ (The Hub) 
shall take place until details of all windows and doors (including their materials, 
finishes, recesses and opening profile) to ‘The Hub’ have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The windows and 
doors to ‘The Hub’ shall be installed in accordance with the duly approved 
details before the building is first occupied and shall be retained as such 
thereafter.

The construction of Blocks B-D and E-G shall be carried out in accordance with 
the windows and door details and specifications as detailed on plan references 
2428.T.040 rev. A and 2428.T.040.5 rev. A; the windows and doors shall be 
installed in accordance with the approved details before the dwellings hereby 
approved are first occupied and shall be retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure use of appropriate materials and design details 
which are sympathetic to the character of the site and its surroundings in the 
interests of visual amenity in accordance with the requirements of Policy P3 of 
the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

16 The approved scheme of biodiversity mitigation measures, as set out at 
Sections 5.2-5.4 of the report ‘Site Compensation, Enhancement and 
Maintenance Measures’ (by Verrity Webster dated September 2019 rev. A), 
shall be implemented in full prior to first occupation of the dwellings and retained 
and maintained in accordance with the approved detail thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of enhancing biodiversity and habitat provision within 
the site in accordance with Policy G7 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

17 (a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, the development 
hereby permitted shall not be occupied until full details of both hard and soft 
landscaping works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details shall include sufficient like for like replacement 
hedgerow provision and biodiversity mitigation; full detail and specification for 
the laying out and landscaping of the detention pond, including cross-sections; 
and shall include the formation of any banks, terraces or other earthworks, hard 
surfaced areas and materials, planting plans, specifications and schedules 
(including planting size, species and numbers/densities), existing plants / trees 
to be retained, a scheme for the timing / phasing of implementation works and 
an ongoing Landscape Environmental Management Plan, covering a minimum 
period of 25 years from occupation of development.

Page 87



Page 11 of 13

(b) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
scheme for timing / phasing of implementation and shall be maintained in 
accordance with the duly approved Landscape Environmental Management 
Plan.

(c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this condition 
which are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become severely damaged or 
become seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced within 
the next planting season by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those 
originally required to be planted.

Reason:  To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to 
its location and the nature of the proposed development and in accordance with 
Policies P1, P2, P3, G6 and G7 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

18 Notwithstanding any detail provided as part of the application or shown on the 
approved plans, no part of the development shall be occupied until such time 
as details of the type, siting, design and materials to be used in the construction 
of boundaries, screens or retaining walls have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the approved structures have 
been erected in accordance with the approved details. The structures shall 
thereafter be retained and maintained in perpetuity.

Reason: In the interests of amenity and in compliance with Policies P3 and DM1 
of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy.

19 Notwithstanding any information provided as part of the application, no part of 
the development shall be occupied until such time as a Travel Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Travel Plan shall contain firm measures for promoting a choice of transport 
modes and a monitoring regime with agreed mode share targets. In addition 
the Plan shall set out the monitoring procedures and mechanisms that are to 
be put in place to ensure that it remains effective and shall be reviewed within 
a framework approved by the Local Planning Authority. The initiatives contained 
in the approved Travel Plan shall be implemented on the first occupation of any 
dwelling unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and 
shall continue to be implemented thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure that the development encourages people to travel 
by sustainable modes of transport in accordance with the objectives of Policy 
T2 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

20 The dwellings hereby approved shall be constructed in accordance with the 
noise mitigation measures set out within Section 6 of the approved Acoustic 
Planning Report (ref. 0354/APR1 rev. 1). No part of the development shall be 
occupied until such time as a verification report has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to confirm that the approved 

Page 88



Page 12 of 13

ventilation and acoustic measures have been implemented to achieve the 
required maximum noise levels. The noise attenuation measures shall be 
retained as installed thereafter in perpetuity.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of residents in order to comply with the 
requirements of Policies G9 and DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

21 The car parking, servicing and other vehicular access arrangements shown on 
the approved plans and approved pursuant to the provisions of condition 7 of 
this permission to serve the development hereby permitted shall be made fully 
available for use prior to the development being first brought into use and shall 
be retained thereafter for their intended purpose.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety and the free flow of traffic and in 
accordance with Policies T2 and DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

22 Notwithstanding any detail provided as part of the application or shown on the 
approved plans, no works for the installation of Air Source Heat Pumps shall be 
undertaken until such time as details of the design, appearance, location and 
acoustic specification (including provision of a Noise Impact Assessment) of the 
same have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Air Source Heat Pumps shall only be installed in accordance with the 
approved details and retained as such thereafter.

Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity and to prevent nuisance arising in 
accordance with Policies P3, G9 and DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

23 No external lighting shall be installed on the buildings or elsewhere on the site 
unless a scheme for such lighting has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall thereafter 
be fully implemented. 

Reason: In the interests of amenity and the conservation of protected species 
and in compliance with Policies P3, G9, DM1 and G7 of the adopted Rochdale 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

24 The community hub (‘Block A’), as shown on the approved Site Plan ref. 
2428.T.006 rev. A, hereby permitted shall not be used at any time other than 
for purposes ancillary to the residential care use within the site. 

Reason: In the interests of amenity and to prevent nuisance arising in 
accordance with Policies G9 and DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

25 Use of the community hub (‘Block A’), as shown on the approved Site Plan ref. 
2428.T.006 rev. A, hereby permitted shall only take place between the hours of 
0700 and 2300 on any day.

Page 89



Page 13 of 13

Reason: In the interests of amenity and to prevent nuisance arising in 
accordance with Policies G9 and DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

AGENDA ITEM 6(c) – 19/00693/FUL – 687 Bury Road, Rochdale OL11 4AU - 
Demolition of existing dwelling, and the erection of 7No detached dwellings with 
access road and associated parking - Resubmission of 18/01199/FUL

ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS

In response to additional neighbourhood publicity that was issued on receipt of 
amended plans, three further objection letters have been received from parties that 
had previously objected to the proposals.   In additional to re-stating earlier points of 
objection, concern has been raised that the amendments received do not overcome 
the points of objection raised and that even by moving the dwellings further to the east, 
the layout remains fundamentally the same.  It has been requested that should the 
application be approved, the smaller of the house types (C1) are used in substitution 
at plots 3 and 4 to the south of the site.

PLANNING PANEL COMMENTS

The application was discussed at the meeting of the Rochdale Township Planning 
Panel on 8th October 2019.  Concern was raised about refuse collection from the 
private driveway and the visibility splay from the site entrance given the 40mph speed 
limit on Bury Road.  

Case Officer’s Response: The proposed site plan indicates a refuse collection area 
adjacent to the site entrance to be utilised on collection day so that an excessive 
number of bins would not be left lining the pavement of Bury Road.  Each dwelling 
includes an area for bin storage within the curtilage for general storage. No objections 
have been received from the Council’s Highways Officer in respect of the site access. 
The width of the pavement of Bury Road ensures that drivers leaving the site would 
have full views of Bury Road in both directions. 

Page 90



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 9 October 2019
Portfolio Councillor Carol Wardle, 

Cabinet member for 
Planning, Development  
& Housing

Report Author Sharon Hill
Public/Private Document Public

Notification that the following appeals have been lodged

      Pennines Township 

1. 17/0025/EUD - Ogdenclough, Huddersfield Road, Milnrow, OL16 3YG
Appeal against an Enforcement Notice – Milnrow and Newhey.

      Rochdale Township

2. 19/00418/HOUS – 106 Hill Top Drive, Rochdale, OL11 2RL - Erection of 
a single storey rear extension and replacement of door on existing side 
elevation with a window – Retrospective – Balderstone and Kirkholt – 
Delegated.

Page 91

Agenda Item 7


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Submitted Planning Applications
	dingle farm, hollin lane
	687 bury road
	PL Committee Update Report 9 October 2019 v2

	7 Lodged Planning Appeals

